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OF THE

TOWN OF DRYDEN.

CHAPTER I.

PREHISTORIC CONDITIONS.

The complete history of ever}' atom of matter extends back to its

creation ; so the early history of the territory now known as the town

of Dryden, is coeval with the formation of the present surface of the

earth itself. While the scope of our work will be mainly confined

to the century period immediately following the first settlement of the

township by its present race of inhabitants, a brief reference to its

earlier conditions will here be permitted, bringing it down to the time

when our History properly begins.

Our knowledge of the earth's early history must be principally de

rived from the science of geology, which teaches that this portion of

the state of New York was once the bottom of an ancient ocean, of

which the sea shells and fossil fishes, found in the stratified layers of

our native rocks, and the extensive beds of salt which are now known

to underlie the surface of certain sections, if not all of our county,

seem to afford abundant proof. Scientific scholars tell us that the

northern part of oui state first emerged from this prehistoric sea,

which, gradually receding toward the south, left bare the native strati

fied rock formation of our locality in what the geologists term the

Chemung period of the Devonian age. They teach,us that subse

quently powerful forces, by means perhaps of icebergs and glacial ac

tion, brought here and scattered about boulders and gravel beds from

l
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older and more northern geological formations, at the same time plow

ing up and pulverizing into soil the native strata, and scooping out

our valleys, in some places so deep as to form the beds of the numer

ous lakes which are a marked physical feature of Western New York.

These lakes and valleys, with their intermediate ridges of hills and

uplands, usually extend in a general north and south direction, the

hills of our township varying from 1500 to 1800 feet above the present

sea level, while the beds of some of the neighboring lakes, Seneca for

example, lie below the surface of the ocean itself. Just how these re

sults were brought about must still be a matter for scientific study, but

certain it is that this process of creation or development, whatever it

may have been, resulted in leaving a rolling surface and a deep and

fertile soil covering the beautiful hills and dales of our county of

Tompkins.

When first discovered by civilized man our town was a dense forest,

mostly of hemlock and hard wood timber, liberally sprinkled with

large trees of white pine, which in some places grew to be so thrifty
and thick as to monopolize the soil and overshadow and crowd out the

inferior growth. How many generations of these undisturbed forest

trees grew and decayed before being seen by the first settler, must be

a matter of pure speculation ; how this primeval forest appeared to

the hardy pioneers who cleared it from the sites of our present homes,
must be to us a subject for interesting reflections.

The physical features of the country which have suffered the least

change in their appearance during the century period of our history, are

the larger streams, which
"

while man may come and man may
go"

still
"

flow on forever
"

from their fountains to the sea. When first

discovered, Virgil, Fall and Cascadilla creeks, although unconscious

of their present names, with more obstructed channels but with larger

volumes of water, drained the same valleys through which they still

flow. They were then in their wild, untrained and unbroken state, un

saddled by bridges and unbridled by mill dams, but they took the

same general courses which they now pursue, and were the first land

marks in the boundless forest. The hills, too, although hidden from

view by the foliage of the unbroken shade, must have presented the

same general form as now. Our Dryden lake, since enlarged by arti

ficial means, still had an existence as a small bodjr of water, when na

ture turned it over for the use of man. For unknown ages its tiny
waves broke on the lonely shore, or, in more placid mood, its calm sur

face, all unseen, reflected the shadows of the virgin forest of pine with

which it was completely surrounded.
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CHAPTER II.

INDIAN OCCUPATION.

Although there is no record that the town of Dryden was ever the

site of any permanent Indian settlement, there is abundant evidence

that the Indians occupied it as a hunting ground. The little flint ar

rowheads which are still found, especially idong the banks of the

streams and upon the shores of the Lake, are unmistakable proof of

the presence of the Indiaus, and the chips of flint, the waste product

of the rude manufacture of these arrowheads, and other implements

of stone found frequently about the shores of the Lake, indicate that

at some time they had there at least a temporary encampment. The

nearest Indian villages of which we have any authentic account were

the habitations of the Cayugas, near the present site of the city of

Ithaca, and extending on both sides of Cayuga Lake to its outlet.

Central New York, when first known to civilization, was the home of

the
"

Iroquois,
"

a term applied first to five and afterwards to six con

federated Indian tribes, which included the Cayugas, and is said to

have constituted the most powerful force of Indians on the American

Continent. We may perhaps claim some significance in the fact that

the territory which now constitutes the central and western part of

the Empire State was once the home and hunting ground of the

victorious Iroquois, the conquerers of all the neighboring tribes. It

was said that such experiences had the New England tribes of Indians

suffered from the Mohawks the eastern branch of the Iroquois that

the very mention of the name of "a
Mohawk"

caused them to flee

with terror. The Iroquois had recently conquered the Adirondacks

on the north and the Eries and Hurons on the west, and after becom

ing known to white men, in one of their southern excursions, they res

cued from their enemies the whole tribe of Tuscaroras of North Caro

lina, whom they brought home with them and adopted as the sixth

branch of their nation.

The conditions and habits of these aborigines form an interesting

study to those who have investigated the subject. The first white

men to go among them, except occasional fur traders, were the mis

sionaries of the French Jesuits, who for a century prior to the Eng
lish occupation of their territory, had lived and labored among them

in the vain effort to effect their conversion to their form of Christianity.

These, like other American Indians, from the first seemed to take much

more naturally to the vices than to the virtues of their white brothers
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and the sacrifices of those zealous men, who left their pleasant homes

in France to live and work among the Indians of North America for

their education and development in the Christian faith, were worthy

of better success than resulted. But the reports which these French

Catholic priests sent back to their native country of their experiences

among them are now found carefully preserved in French monasteries,

and constitute one of the most interesting and trustworthy sources of

our knowledge of the actual condition in which the Indians were then

found. The
"relations"

(as they are called) of one Father Carheil,
who spent over twenty years of his life among the Cayugas, and who

in the year 1672 describes Lake Tiohero (now Cayuga) and the beauti
ful country surrounding it, with its abundance of fish and game, have

thus recently been resurrected and translated into English, throwing
much light upon this subject so interesting to the antiquarian.
In the French and Indian wars, which preceded the Revolution,

the Iroquois, in spite of the French priests, took sides with the Eng
lish, and rendered efficient assistance in the conquest of Canada from

the French. When the War of the Revolution followed between the

English colonies and their mother country, the Iroquois at first de

cided to remain neutral, but the most of them were afterwards per

suaded to join their old allies, the English. This exposed the out

posts of the colonies to a merciless enemy in the rear, and the fright

ful massacres of Cherry Valley and Wyoming were among the results.

Fortunate it was for the early settlers of our locality that these bloody
times passed before they ventured into the Western Wilderness.

To avenge these outrages and to punish the hostile Indians and

drive them from the neighborhood of the advance settlements, an in

vasion of the Iroquois country was executed in the year 1779, known

as
"

Sullivan's campaign,
"

which, after a battle with the combined

forces of Indians and Tories near Newtown (now Elmira), resulted in

their complete defeat, followed by the subsequent overrunning of the

Indian country and the destruction of their villages, including those

along Cayuga and Seneca lakes. This campaign, forming a part of

the Revolutionary war, planned by Washington and executed by Gen

erals Sullivan and Clinton with a force of about five thousand men,

detachments of which marched within a few miles of the town of Dry

den, and perhaps within its borders, resulted in the complete humili

ation of the fierce Iroquois, and opened the way for the subsequent

purchase and settlement of this section of Western New York, over

which up to that time they had held absolute sway. With the excep

tion of the Oneidas, who had remained friendly to the colonies, and
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a part of the Onondagas, whose descendants still remain on their res

ervation near Syracuse, the Iroquois were driven from this part of the

state never to return in large numbers. Some took refuge in Canada

and along the Niagara frontier, others, including a number from the

Cayuga and Seneca tribes, were colonized in the extreme western

part of this state, while most of the Cayugas were induced to make

their homes in the Indian Territory, where their descendants now re

side in considerable numbers. Thus it happened that the early pio

neers of our town escaped all annoyance from hostile Indians, who had

been effectually driven out of the country before any settlement was

attempted.

Those readers who desire to follow more minutely the details of

"

Sullivan's Campaign
"

will find the journals of the officers of that

expedition, with full explanatory notes and maps, given in a large vol

ume recently published by the State, a copy of which can be found in

the Dryden village school library.

CHAPTER III.

THE APPROACH OF CIVILIZATION.

The War of the Revolution was practically ended in 1781, two years

after Sullivan's Campaign was carried out against the Indians of West

ern New York. WTithin the next ten years the remnants of the Iro

quois confederacy ceded their lands, by various treaties, to the State.

Conditions favorable to the settlement of this locality were thus rapid

ly developed. Other sections of the country, both north and south of

us, more readily reached by means of navigable lakes and rivers, were

already occupied by the pioneer settlers, while the ridge separating

the head waters of the St. Lawrence from those of the Susquehanna,
of which our town forms a part, was still uninhabited. In February,

1789, the N. Y. State Legislature passed a law for surveying and set

ting apart for the use of its soldiers of the Revolution who then sur

vived, a large section of land between Seneca and Oneida lakes after

wards known as the
"

Military
Tract,"

comprising nearly two million

acres, and including the town of Dryden, which was designated in the

survey as Township No. 23. This tract was surveyed in the years 1789

and 1790, and divided into twenty-six townships, to which two more

were afterwards added, making twenty-eight in all, each being about

ten miles square and containing one hundred lots of about one mile

square each. Dryden is one of the few to retain nearly its original
di-
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mensions. The little notch which formerly existed in the southeast

corner of the town before the seven lots were set off to Caroline, was

caused by the overlapping of the territory known as the Massachusetts

Ten Townships upon the Military Tract, the West Owego Creek, which

rises in Dryden near the southwest corner, being the west boundary
of the former. The lots of Dryden were surveyed in the year 1790, by
John Konkle, of Schoharie. In the southeast corner of each lot was

set apart one hundred acres, known and frequently referred to in old

descriptions, which are brought down into deeds of even this date, as

the
"

State's Hundred Acres,
"

which the owner had the option of

exchanging for an equal number of acres of the U. S. lands in Ohio ;

and out of each lot was reserved a piece of fifty acres, known as the
"

Survey Fifty Acres,
"

which was retained by the surveyor for his ser

vices, unless redeemed by the owner at eight dollars. So poor were

the early inhabitants in those days, and so scarce was money, that

many of them were unable to raise the eight dollars necessaiw to save

the Survey Fifty Acres of their lots even on these terms.

Out of each township one lot was reserved for gospel and school

purposes and another for promoting literature, the gospel and school

lot in Dryden being No. 29 and the literature lot No. 63. The other

lots were drawn by ballot in the year 1791 by the New York soldiers

of the Revolution, each private and non-commissioned officer being en

titled to draw one lot. A copy of the
"

Balloting Book
"

containing

the names of the soldiers of the Revolution by whom the lots of the

town of Dryden were originally drawn, can now be found in the Tomp
kins county clerk's office. This method of distribution of the bind of

the township by ballot, accounts for the fact that the early settlers of

the town did not come in large colonies from any particular part of

the older settlements, but came singly or in small groups from locali

ties widely separated.

Prior to this time all of the western part of the state was embraced

in the old county of Montgomery, but in the year 1791 Herkimer and

Tioga counties, the latter including Dryden, were set off from Mont

gomery and in 1794 Onondaga county, then made to include all of the

Military Tract, was formed and set off from Tioga and Herkimer.

Thus our Township No. 23 was, from 1791 to 1794, a part of Tioga

county, becoming in 1794 a part of Onondaga county, and so remained

until it was appropriated to form a part of the new county of Cayuga

in 1799, and was afterwards set off to form ii part of the present coun

ty of Tompkins upon its; organization in the year 1817.

It is thus seen. how it happens that all of the records of land titles
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of the town of Dryden, prior to 1817 and subsequent to 1799, are found

in the clerk's office of the county of Cayuga, the records of our own

county commencing with its formation in the year 1817. Township
No. 23, while in Montgomery county, was included in the political sub

division of Whitestown ; upon its incorporation into Tioga county in

1791 it became a part of the old town of Owego ; but when it

was absorbed by Onondaga county it was at first included, in its po

litical existence, with the present townships of Enfield and Itha

ca in the original town of Ulysses, the organization of which dates

back to the formation of Onondaga county in 1794. On Feb. 22,

1803, Township No. 23 was set off by itself, having been previously

named Drvden by the commissioners of the land office, in honor

of John Dryden, the English poet. The townships of Ithaca and

Enfield remained a part of Ulysses, in their political organization,

until four years later.

But few of the soldiers of the Revolution came and settled upon the

/lots which fell to them. The old veterans of those clays, like some of

later times, cared more for their present comfort than for an oppor-

\ tunity of finding new homes in the wilderness of the Militarj' Tract.

Nor can the old Revolutionary soldiers, after having passed through

the hardships involved in the seven
years'

war with England, be

blamed for shrinking from the privation and suffering incident to pio

neer life in a new country. Many of them disposed of their titles for a

mere trifle. For instance it is said that the original owner of the. lot

of 640 acres upon which the Dryden Center House now stands, sold it

for a coat, hat, one drink of rum, and one dollar in money, and that

the soldier who drew Lot No. 9 sold it for one
"

great coat.
" "

Laud

sharks
"

existed even in those days and many of the
soldiers'

claims

to the territory of Dryden were bought up for a trifling consideration

by speculators in the East, who held them for advanced prices, at

which they were sold to those who became actual settlers.

So great a length of time elapsed between the drawing of the lots

and the actual occupation of them, and so many loose and fraudu

lent transfers were made of them in the meantime, that the uncertain

ty of titles resulting was one of the troubles which vexed and disap
pointed the early settlers, much more than we of the present day can

realize. Some, however, of the original owners retained their lots and

occupied the lands which the government had given them as a bounty
for their services. As an example, Elias Larabee, who drew Lot No.

49, including the southeast quarter of Dryden village, came and lived

for a long time upon his lot, and one of his descendants, Daniel Law-
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son, a pensioner of the War of the Rebellion, still owns and occupies a

small part of it.

The town having been surveyed in 1790 and the lots being drawn in

1791, the next question was how were these possessions in the wilder

ness of the Military Tract to be reached. The first settlers had al

ready arrived at Owego and Elmira by way of the Susquehanna and

Chemung rivers, while others had come to Syracuse and Auburn by
way of the Mohawk and Seneca rivers and the lakes, and settlements

had been commenced in and about Ithaca and Lansing, on the banks

of Cayuga Lake, by parties who had taken these routes, but there was

no direct practicable way to reach from the east the elevated water

shed lying between the two, until a road was cut through the woods

from Oxford on the Chenango River to Ithaca at the head of Cayuga

Lake, which was done in the years 1793, 1794 and 1795, by Joseph

Chaplin under a contract from the State. Mr. Chaplin was the first

settler in the town of Virgil and we quote from Bouton's History of

that town, pages 9 and 10, concerning him and his work as fol

lows :

"

To facilitate the settlement of this section of the country, a

road was projected connecting Oxford with the Cayuga Lake, to pass

through this town [Virgil.] Joseph Chaplin, the first inhabitant, was

intrusted with this work. The instrument by which he was author

ized to engage in it was authenticated on the fifth of May, 1792. He

spent that season in exploring and surveying the route, the length of

which is about sixty miles. He came to Lot No. 50 [of Virgil], which

he owned and afterwards settled, erected a house and prosecuted his

work, having a woman to keep the house and cook for workmen. The

work of cutting and clearing the road was done in 1793-4 ; so that he

moved his family from Oxford over it in the winter of 1794-5, employ

ing six or seven sleighs freighted with family, furniture, provisions,
etc."

But it seems that when he had completed the road as far as Virgil

he was persuaded by some settlers from Kidder's Ferry (near Ludlow

ville) to continue the road from Virgil through to that point, as it then

contained more inhabitants than Ithaca. Having done so he present

ed his bill to the Legislature, which rejected it on the ground that he

had not complied with the terms of his contract, which required the

road to be built to Ithaca. He then returned and in the year 1795 cut

the road through from Virgil to Ithaca known as the
"

Bridle
Road,"

and thus became entitled to his pay, the first road opened by him

being now known as the old State Road, extending between the towns

of Dryden and Groton and through Lansing to the Lake.
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The foregoing is the version of this matter which has appeared in

the local histories previously published, but it is now claimed, with

better reason as it seems to us and more consistently with the con

ditions which are known to have then existed, that the Bridle Road

was the trial route first partly opened by Chaplin, and which the state

government refused to accept because it did not terminate as required

by the contract at a point on Cayuga Lake, the early Ithaca settle

ment being at least a mile from its nearest shore ; and that he then

fulfilled the letter of his contract by afterwards opening the old State

Road to Kidder's Ferry, leaving the first route only a bridle path

which Capt. Robertson, as we shall see hereafter, was obliged to widen

in order to reach with ox teams by way of Ithaca his site on Lot 53 of

Dryden.

We are told that in this work of cutting these new roads through

the wilderness, Mr. Chaplin was assisted by his step-son, then a

young man, Gideon Messenger by name, who is the ancestor of the

present Messenger family of Dryden and the uncle of H. J. Mes

senger, of Cortland. From Bouton's History we learn that this same

Gideon Messenger was the first town clerk of Virgil in 1795, after

wards its supervisor, and that he passed over the State Road from

State Bridge, in the eastern part of Virgil, to Cayuga Lake, before

there was a single habitation in the whole distance. (Bouton's Sup
plement, page 39.)

CHAPTER IV.

THE FIRST SETTLEMENT.

It seems to be conceded that the first actual settler in the town of

Dryden was Amos Sweet. Our information upon this subject is de

rived almost entirely from the
"

Old Man in the Clouds,
"

the fictitious

name of the author of a series of articles published in
"

Rumsey's

Companion,
"

the first newspaper published at Dryden, in the years

1856 and 1857, and which were, in fact, compiled by the editor from

the information afforded by old men, then living, but since dead, and

in that way preserved. WTe quote from the first number as follows :

"

It was in the spring of 1797, that a man by the name of Amos Sweet

came from the East somewhere, and, after ascertaining the location of

his lot, put up a log house about ten feet square, just back of where

now resides Freeman Stebbins [now John Munsey] in this village,

where himself, his wife, two children, his mother and brother all lived.
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This would seem to be a very small and rude habitation to the people

of our present gay and beautiful village. It was built of logs about a

foot thick ; these were halved together at the ends and the cracks

chinked in with split sticks and mud. The house was eight logs high,

covered with bark from the elm and basswood. Through one corner

an opening was left for the smoke to pass through, there being no

chimney or chamber floor. The fire-place was composed of three

hardhead stones turned up against the logs for the back, and three or

four others of the same stamp formed the hearth, these being laid

upon the split logs which formed the floor. Inasmuch as there was

no sash or glass in those days in this vicinity, their only window con

sisted of an opening about eighteen inches square cut through the

logs, and this, to keep out the inclement weather, was covered with

brown paper, greased over to admit the light. The door was also in

keeping with the rest of the house, being composed of slabs split from

the pine and hewn off as smooth as might be with the common axe.

The hinges were of wood and fastened across the door with pins of the

same material, serving the double purpose of cleet and hinge. In this

house, thus built without nails and with benches fastened to the sides

of the house for chairs, eating from wooden trenchers and slab tables

much after the fashion of the door, did this little family of pioneers

live.
"

But the title to the lot upon which Mr. Sweet built seems to

have been defective and one Nathaniel Shelden appears to have had

the real ownership, for in 1801, he compelled Mr. Sweet and his family
to leave it. Elsewhere Mr. Sweet is spoken of as a

"

squatter,
"

or one

having no title, and Mr. Shelden is represented as using "fraudulent

means
"

to dispossess him, but charity for both of these early pioneers

compels us to believe that the difficulty grew out of the great uncer

tainty and confusion which then existed as to the titles derived from

the old soldiers of the Revolution, some of whom had undertaken to

sell the same lands several times over to different parties. At any

rate Sweet was compelled to leave his pioneer home in 1801, and soon

after, as the account says, "he sickened and died, and his remains,

together with those of his mother and two children,
"

were buried

directly across the road from the Dryden Springs Sanitarium. The

house remained for some time after, for we are told that it was used us

the first school house for the children of the early settlers in the

year 1804.

The new log cabin constructed during the summer of 1897 on the

grounds of the Dryden Agricultural Society was built of green
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chestnut logs and modeled after this first pioneer house in Dryden.

It is intended to be preserved and it is hoped it will long remain as

a relic of that kind of architecture, once so prevalent here, where now

only the decaying remains of two or three log houses can be found

in the whole township.

The fact that we now find no signs of the graves where Mr. Sweet

and his family are said to have been buried, strikes us at first as

singular, but a little reflection and an examination of the customs of

the early settlers in that regard, supplies us with the explanation.

The pioneers had too much to do to spend much time or effort in the

burial of their dead and were too poor to go to much expense in such

matters. Mr. Bouton, in his History of Virgil, says that the first grave

stone in that town was erected in 1823, although deaths had occurred

there from its earliest settlement. He also explains their method of

selecting places for the burial of their dead, which seems to us

strange. We quote from pages 13 and 14 of the Supplement, where

he speaks of a stranger who lost his way and perished in 'the woods,

and mentions that he was buried near where he was found.



THE FIRST_RESIDENT FREEHOLDER. 13

"

Only a few families at this time (1798) resided in the town, which

extended over ten miles of territory. There was no public burying
ground and it was not possible to know where it would be located. *

* *
Families buried their dead on their own premises, and others,

strangers and transient persons, were permitted to be laid in these

family grounds. Ultimately it came to pass that one or more of

these grounds came to be considered public, in a subordinate sense.

There were a large number of them which continued in use after the

public ground was opened.
"

Grave-stones as seen in old cemeteries, where any existed at all, were

then of the simplest character, many being made of native flag-stones,
and the coffin of the pioneer was a coarse wooden box manufactured

by the local undertaker, fifteen dollars paying for the very best.

When we come to think of it, a cemetery would not be much of an

institution in an early settlement in the woods, especially where the

living inhabitants had all they could do to keep soul and body to

gether. Far different is it in a community of a century's growth,

where now our cemetery tombstones, many of them imported from

Italy and Scotland, represent the expenditure of very many thousands

of dollars, and the earth beneath them already envelops the forms of

the ever-increasing, yet silent, majority.

CHAPTER V.

the first Resident freeholder.

While Amos Sweet was the first man to take up his residence in

Dryden, he seems never to have held permanent title to any of its real

estate, and, so far as we can learn, he left no relatives or descendants

from whom any of the present inhabitants can trace their ancestry.

We know not whence he came, except from the
"
Old Man in the

Clouds,"

who says that he came from
"

the East and our

short story of his appearance and residence here is an unsatisfactory

aud a tragic one. We have already given all the facts which we can

learn of him except the statement derived from an old obituary notice

of Seth Stevens, a relative of the early Rummer family in Dryden,

which relates that Stevens, while probably residing in Virgil, helped

to build the first log house in Dryden, presumably the Amos Sweet

house. We have accidentally come across his signature as a witness

to an old Dryden deed, which shows that he could write, an accom

plishment at that time none too common.
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The next settlement in the township was made by a man whose life

had a permanent influence upon the town, and who well-earned the

title which was afterward given him of being the "Fatlier of the
Town,"

having been its first resident freeholder and afterward its first super

visor.

In the year 1797 there lived near Schuylerville, Saratoga county,

N. Y., George Robertson, a young carpenter and millwright, who by
patient industry had acquired a home and a little property, but whose

ambition prompted him to become a pioneer in the undeveloped wil

derness of the Military Tract. His father, Robert Robertson, who

had recently died, had in 1769 emigrated with his family, consisting

of his wife, Josephine, and two small children, young George and his

older sister, Nancy (McCutcheon), from near Glasgow, Scotland,

to Saratoga county, where, upon the breaking out of the Revolu

tion, the father enlisted and gallantly served throughout the struggle

for independence. The old flint-lock musket which he carried in the

army of Washington under the command of General Philip Schuyler,

by and after whom one of his sons was named, is still kept as a treas

ure in the family and was on exhibition at Dryden's Centennial Cele

bration.

Young George Robertson, in 1797, had an opportunity of purchasing

Lot No. 53, of Dryden, from a neighbor, Benoni Ballard, the soldier

to whom it was allotted, and in the autumn of that year he made a

prospecting tour on foot from Saratoga county to Dryden, reaching
Lot 53 by way of the Mohawk Valley, Auburn, Cayuga Lake and_Itha

ca, returning by way of the Bridle Road through the present site of

Dryden village, to Oxford, and thence by way of Utica to his home.

Upon this preliminary visit the only habitation which he found in

Dryden was that of Amos Sweet, described in the last chapter, where,

as he related, there was a clearing of about half an acre which he

called a
"

turnip patch.
"

Being pleased with the new country and possessed of a courage

which, we fear, would be lacking in these days of luxury and refine

ment, Robertson sold his home and with the proceeds completed the

purchase of Lot No. 53 for eight hundred and fifty dollars. He left

his wife and two children for the time being and set out in February,

1798, with a sleigh loaded with such implements and provisions as

could be carried, drawn
bjv

two yoke of oxen, for the long journey.

He was accompanied by at least two young men, including his younger

brother, Philip S. Robertson, and Jared Benjamin.

Of Philip
S.-Robertson we shall have occasion to say more here-
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after as being one of the pioneers of the northwest section of the town,
but of Jared Benjamin we shall say here, lest it be omitted hereafter,
that he was then a lad sixteen years of age who had been apprenticed

to Gteorge Robertson to learn the carpenter's trade and who was in

duced to accompany him into the wilderness by the promise of eighty

acres of land, and who, during the journey and for the first year of the

settlement, served as the housekeeper and cook of the party. He af

terwards served as a soldier from Tompkins county in the War of

1812, after which he journeyed and settled further west, but his son,

Charles Benjamin, returned to Dryden and at one time occupied and

enlarged the Dryden village tannery and afterwards built a tannery
at Harford, one of the old buildings still standing there unoccupied

near the railroad station ; and his son is Chas. M. Benjamin, now one of

the proprietors of the Ithaca Journal. Another of the descendants

of this pioneer lad, Jared Benjamin, is Mrs. D. B. Card, of Dryden.

To return to our narrative, it is claimed by some that Walter Yeo-

mans, and by others that Moses Snyder also accompanied George

Robertson on this pioneer journey, but neither are mentioned in the

first account, published forty years ago when the facts were more at

tainable, and either may have come a year or two later, although it is

certain that both were early pioneers of Dryden from Saratoga county.

The pioneer party were three weeks on the journey, coming by way

of the Mohawk Valley, Utica, Hardenburg's Corners (now Auburn),

reaching Ithaca (then called
"

Markle's Flats,") where there were then

three log houses, March 1, 1798. It took the whole of the next day to

widen the Bridle Road through from Ithaca to Lot 53, upon which

Mott J. Robertson, the youngest son of Captain George Robertson,
now resides, so as to admit of the progress of the team and baggage.

They arrived towards evening on March 2nd and made hasty prep

arations to spend their first night on the site of their new home. In

later years Captain Robertson pointed out to his sons the very spot,

now located between the highway and railroad track near the west

line of Lot 53, where, on that March evening, on split basswood logs,

they ate their first meal and stretched themselves out to spend the

night, having provided the oxen with the tops of the basswood trees

for a supper of browse. A fall of two inches of snow during the night

caused Philip S. to get up and stretch over them a blanket on stakes,

to i.rotect them from the storm. The next morning the men set to

work to build a log house and make a clearing so as to secure a crop

of grain that season. The trees were chopped down, girdled and

burned, the seed was dragged in with the aid of a tree top as a liar-
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row, and the rich, mellow, new ground yielded abundant harvests in

that*
and the succeeding years. Thus the energy and prudence of

young George Robertson enabled him to harvest the first considerable

crops in the town, and when the subsequent settlers came to him to

obtain seed grain, it is said that he supplied those who had no present

means of paying for it, but refused those who had money which would

enable them to get it elsewhere, lest he should not have enough to

supply all of his poorer neighbors. Whether such a policy of supply

ing only those who had no money could be successfully carried out in

these times, may be seriously questioned, but it served to exhibit the

unselfish character of Capt. Robertson and entitled him to the grati

tude of his fellow pioneers, as well as to that of their posterity. His

wife and children came on, the next season (1799), in care of her broth

er, Wm. Smith, of Saratoga, who, after viewing the uninviting pros

pect of the single log house, surrounded for a short distance with the

clearing full of charred stumps and then by the dense wilderness,

advised his sister to return with him to his home in Saratoga, but she

bravely resolved with her husband to share the hardships and reap

the rewards afforded to pioneers in a new country. Their son, Robert

R., whose birthday was April 7, 1800, was for a long time supposed to

have been the first white child born in the town of Dryden, but we

now learn upon reliable authority that Melinda, the daughter of David

Foote and the mother of Mrs. Darius Givens, now residing in Dryden

village, was born at Willow Glen, on February 21, 1800, and was

therefore the first native-born child, while Robert R. was the first

native-born male citizen of the town.

The heroic and unselfish conduct of Captain Robertson, and his in

dustrious and prudent life, together with abilities of no common or

der, gave him prominence in our early history and when the town

came to be organized as a separate political township in 1803, he was

made its first supervisor. Although not the first settler, he was the

first resident freeholder of the town, raised the first crop of any ac

count, and, his house being a hospitable refuge for the early settlers

perhaps less provident than he had been, he is credited with being
the first innkeeper of the town in 1801. These facts well entitled him

to be regarded, as he was by the early settlers, the
"

Father of the

Town of
Dryden."

He was afterward a captain of the State militia

and the field opposite the present residence of his son, Mott J. Rob

ertson, upon which this log house was built in 1798, was the training
ground for the early yeomanry of Dryden, who were here required to

be annually drilled in military tactics. Captain Robertson died April
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4, 1844, having raised a family of thirteen children, many of whom

hive held positions of honor and trust in this and other states, at

least two of his sons having served as sheriffs of the county of Tomp
kins. His oldest child, Nancy, married. Thomas Bishop and she and

her oldest brother, Thomas, lived and died in the town of Lansing.

Robert died in Chautauqua county, N. Y. Phoebe became the wife of

Peter V. Snyder, and Corilla the wife of Wm. Brown, who, with her

brothers, John, Theodore, Cyrus and Hiram D., made their home in

Albion, Mich. Pauline became the wife of Beujamin F. King, at Par

ma, Mich., and Philip died in Crawford county, Pa. Smith, of whom

we shall say more hereafter, resides at Eau Claire, Wis., and Mott J.,
the only son now residing here, is one of the present Centennial Com

mittee of the town of Dryden.

CHAPTER VI.

OTHER SETTLEMENTS OF 1798 AND 1799.

In the fall of 1798, three families settled at Willow Glen. They con

sisted of Ezekiel Sanford, his wife and one son, David Foote, his wife

and four daughters, and Ebenezer Clauson, his wife, one son and two

daughters, making in all a party of fourteen persons, who came to

Dryden over the new State Road, from the Chenango river, with a sin

gle team of oxen drawing a heavy ox sled of the olden times, which was

made with wooden shoes and a heavy split pole. This conveyance

carried all of the household furniture of the three families, which we in

fer from that fact could not then have been very rich in housekeeping
materials. Sanford located opposite the residence of the late Elias

W. Cady, Clauson on the premises now owned and occupied by Moses

Rowland, while Foote built his log hut between the two. They are

said to have passed a very
"

comfortable winter,
"

subsisting largely
upon the abundant game found in the new country, the oxen being
supplied with plenty of browse from the trees. That they were able

to live through the winter at all in this way is a mystery to us of the

present age, who are supplied with so many of the comforts and lux

uries of life. It seemed to the writer at first impossible that cattle

could be wintered on
"

browse
"

without hay or grain, but he is as

sured by old men that such is not the case, and that it was not un

common in old times when fodder was scarce to fell trees in the woods,

especially maple and basswood, so that cattle could have access to

the tops for their subsistence. We are also reminded that wild deer
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wintered in the woods in this locality, when tne snow was deep, with

out this assistance of the woodman. These new settlers did survive

and seem to have prospered in their new homes, and as proof of these

facts we know that our present popular highway commissioner, San

ford E. Smiley, is one of a large number of direct descendants of that

same pioneer, Ezekiel Sanford, one of the party who wintered their

oxen on browse and themselves on the
"

abundant game found in the

new country
"

in the winter of the year 1798-9. Like Amos Sweet,
who had preceded them one year, they seem to have had, when they

came, no permanent title to the land upon which they located, but

came empty handed to grow up with the new country as they did,

having become the ancestors of many of its now prosperous inhabit

ants.

The writer was at first unable to learn whether any of these three

pioneers except Sanford left descendants now residing in the town

ship, and was surprised to learn that both Mrs. Darius Givens and

Mrs. Robert Sager are grandchildren of that same David Foote. Clau

son, with all his family, is believed to have moved further west, one of

his daughters having married a brother of Wyatt Allen, formerly of

Dryden.

Others who settled in 1798, coming here from Lansing, where they
had sojourned a short time, were Daniel White and his brother-in-law,
Samuel Knapp, a soldier of the Revolution, who was engaged in the

battles of Trenton, Princeton, Stony Point, Brandywine and Mon

mouth. Knapp took up his location on Lot No. 14, where he raised

a large family and died July 1, 1847, aged 91 years. His remains are

buried in the Peruville cemetery. Mr. White gave his attention to the

construction of the first grist-mill of the town, which stood about forty
rods west of the present grist-mill in Freeville, just north-west of

where the highway now crosses Fall Creek. He procured a stone

which he found on the Thompson (now Skillings) farm, split it and

himself dressed out and took to the mill the first millstones, which

answered the purpose and were in constant use until the mill was re

constructed in 1818. His mill was completed in 1802, prior to which

time the pioneer was obliged to take his grist to Ludlow's Mill

(now Ludlowville) to be ground, or pound it into meal in the hollow

of a large stump, as was sometimes done by hand. During the past

summer parts of this boulder out of which Mr. White worked these

first millstones, were brought to the grounds of the Dryden Agricul

tural Society by Samuel Skillings, a descendant of Samuel Knapp, and

left near the new log cabin, where they will remain as a relic and re-
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minder of the use which Mr. White made in 1802 of a part of this

rock. Besides being a practical miller, Mr. White was an ordained

deacon of the M. E. church and preached on the Cayuga circuit in

1802, and for several years afterwards. He came to Lansing from

Pennsylvania, but was originally from Roxbury, Mass., and died at the

age of seventy-eight, leaving a family of fourteen children, of whom

the only present survivors are Daniel M. White, of Dryden, secretary
of the present Centennial Committer, Mrs. Anna Montfort, of Peru

ville, and Mrs. George F. A. Baker, of West Dryden. Many of his

grandchildren and great-grandchildren are now living.

Aaron Lacy, father of the late John R. Lacy, came from New Jersey
and settled at Willow Glen early in the year 1799, on the corner since

occupied by the Stickles family.

Zephaniah Brown came from Saratoga and settled on Lot 71, ad

joining the town of Ithaca, in the year 1799, cutting the first road from

that portion of the town to Ithaca, which was extended two years later

by Peleg Ellis to the Ellis Hollow neighborhood. Brown seems to

have been the first pioneer in that part of the town and resided for a

number of years on the farm since occupied by Chauncey L. Scott.

But in about 1830 he and his family moved to Michigan, leaving, so

far as we can learn, no descendants in the town.

Tradition has handed down to us an incident worthy of being here

preserved of the first visit between the two pioneer families of Peleg
Ellis and Zephaniah Brown, after a path had been made connecting

their respective clearings in the forest. Mrs. Ellis came to make her

call upon her new neighbor on horseback, one of her little girls sitting
in front of her and the other behind. As they emerged from the

woods into the clearing Mrs. Brown saw them and anxiously called

out to her husband in a voice loud enough to be heard by Mrs. Ellis :

"

Zephaniah ! Zephaniah ! Mrs. Ellis is coming. What shall we have

for tea ?
"

To which her husband replied in a voice still heard by the

visitor :
"
Make a shortcake ! Make a shortcake and put the cream in

thick ; put it in thick, I
say."

Society did not then require of Dryden neighbors the formalities,
and shall we say hypocrisy, now in vogue ; but who can say that there

did not then exist among these pioneers dressed in homespun clothing

and living in their log houses in the clearings, more genuine, heartfelt

hospitality than exists to-day among their more polished descendants

in their expensive mansions, furnished with all that modern luxury
and elegance can suggest ?
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CHAPTER VII.

SETTLEMENTS FROM 1S0U TO 1S03 INCLUSIVE.

In the year 1800 Lyman Hurd came in from Vermont and settled

with his wife and children at Willow Glen, on the corner opposite the

blacksmith shop, now vacant. His house which he built there was

then the best in town because it had a chimney, the others having

merely a hole in the roof for the smoke to pass out. This chimney

was not made of bricks and mortar, but of sticks and mud, built up

from the beam over the fire-place in cob-house fashion, such as was

known in those days as a "stick the best that could be made

with the material at hand. Mr. Hurd brought with him a pair of

horses, the first seen in the new settlement, but unfortunately one of

them died during the first winter, not being able perhaps to subsist

upon
"browse,"

which, as we have seen, was about all the food for

domestic animals which the town then afforded. In this dilemma Mr.

Hurd and his hired man went off through the woods to Tully and

there procured an ox, which they brought home and harnessed in with

the surviving horse by means of what was called a half yoke, and the

"Old Man in the
Clouds"

certifies to us that for all purposes, "such as

plowing, logging, going to mill and to meeting, this team worked to-

together

Other settlers of the same year were Nathaniel Sheldon, the

first physician to reside in the town, and Ruloff Whitney, who built

the first sawmill of the town, which was located on Virgil creek, on the

road leading north from Willow Glen, which was opened at this time

by the authorities of the town (still Ulysses) to connect at this point

the
"Bridle"

road with the old
"State"

road. This mill was located

upon what has since been known as the Joseph McGraw farm, and

furnished the first lumber for the new settlement. Ruloff Whitney
was also the first bridegroom of the town, having wooed and won one

of Virgil's fair daughters, Miss Susan Glenny, whom he married in

this, the first year of the nineteenth century, or perhaps more accu

rately speaking the last of the eighteenth. From this time on settlers

were numerous and will be noticed further on when we come to treat

of the separate localities of the town with which they are associated,

mentioning here in detail only those who, to some extent, are promi

nently connected with the history of the town, as a whole.

Among these were the two brothers John and Peleg Ellis, who came

originally from West Greenwich, Rhode Island, and first settled in
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Herkimer county of this state, from which John came to Virgil in

1798, having purchased of the Samuel Cook estate Lot No. 23 of that

town, upon which he remained about three years. In the meantime

his brother Peleg, having exchanged with this same Cook family his

home in Herkimer county for Lot No. 84 of Dryden, in the locality
since known as Ellis Hollow, first came out to view his new posses

sions in the fall of 1799. He had difficulty at first to locate his newly

acquired property in the universal forest, until meeting with Captain

Robertson, he received such directions as enabled him to find it, by
means of a map and the marked trees which, when properly under

stood, indicated the boundaries of the recently surveyed lots. Having
found his property he immediately commenced chopping for a clear

ing, and he is said to have passed eleven days alone at work without

once seeing a human being. On the eleventh day Zephaniah Brown,

who, as we have seen, had already settled on Lot 7.1, hearing the sound

of the axe came up with his gun in hand to make his first call upon

his new neighbor.

Returning home to spend the winter, Mr. Ellis came on, the next

summer, with his family, then consisting of his wife and two daugh

ters, and built on the headwaters of Cascadilla Creek, which flowed

through his lot, his first home of logs, in which he lived for eight

years. Here, on January 30, 1801, was born Delilah (Mulks), the

oldest of the family of Major Ellis to be born in Dryden, the two

eldest daughters having come here with their parents. We shall

have occasion to refer to Major Ellis hereafter as the captain of

the first company of Dryden men to engage in the War of 1812,

having afterward been commissioned as major of the militia of the

olden time. He lived on the farm which he had thus commenced

clearing in 1799 for nearly sixty years and died there on his eighty-

fourth birthday, May 9th, 1859. Four of his family of twelve chil

dren are still living, one of them, Mrs. John M. Smith, still occupying

the homestead. Major Ellis is said to have been a man universally

esteemed for honesty and the qualities which make a good citizen and

a faithful friend.

His brother John, whom we left in Virgil, sold his property there

and came to Dryden in 1801, first settling here on the farm near Mal-

loiyville, since owned by A. B. Lamont, where he remained about

three years. Afterwards he also resided in Ellis Hollow near his

brother ; but a few years before his death, which occurred April 10,

1846, he took up his final place of residence in the town on the place

now owned by J. Wesley Hiles, one-half mile north of Dryden village,
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nearly opposite to the farm where his grandson, Geo. A. Ellis, now

resides. From the date of his residence here to his death, John Ellis

seems to have been the most prominent citizen of the town. Before

the county of Tompkins was organized he held the position of Judge

of the Court of Common Pleas of Cayuga county, and afterwards he

held the same office in Tompkins county. He was chosen supervisor

of the town for twenty-seven years, was a member of the State Legis

lature in 1831 and 1832, besides holding many minor offices. Subse

quent politicians must despair of equalling his record as an office

holder, and we must all concede that he was entitled to the designa^

tion which was given him at the time, of being
"

King of Dryden.
"

Among his many descendants are Thomas J. McElheny, of Ithaca,
John E. McElheny, of Dryden, and the late Jennie McGraw-Fiske, to

whom we are indebted for the Southworth Library. Judge Ellis is

said to have been a man of commanding presence, keen and quick in

the use of his intellectual powers. A portrait of him, painted in Al

bany during his attendance at the State Legislature, is still owned by
his grandson, John E. McElheny, and was on exhibition at Drydtn's

Centennial Celebration, a copy of which is the frontispiece of this vol

ume. For further particulars concerning John and Peleg Ellis see

the subsequent chapter of this History which treats of the Ellis Family
in Dryden.

In the j'ear 1801 the first merchant of the town, Joel Hull, from

Massachusetts, settled at Willow Glen, taking up his abode on the

corner now occupied by Moses Rowland. He was also the first resi

dent surveyor in the town, but it is said that he was neither a hunter

nor a shingle maker, two qualifications which all other early settlers

were supposed to possess. He was, however, a man of much intelli

gence, the first town clerk, in 1803, and a man whose advice was

sought in legal matters, being an expert in drawing deeds and con

tracts. His store was opened in an addition to his house in 1802.

His stock of goods was purchased at Aurora and consisted of a chest

of old Bohea tea, which he sold at one dollar per pound, a quantity of

Cavendish tobacco, at three shillings per pound, and two or three rolls

of pig-tail tobacco, at three cents per yard, cash. As money was

scarce, barter was in order, and one bushel of ashes would buy one

yard of pig-tail. His stock also included a keg of whiskey, two or

three pieces of calico and some narrow sheetings. He ventured more

extensively in trade afterwards and failed in business, thus setting a

bad example which succeeding merchants have too often followed.

He and his family afterwards removed to Pennsvlvania. An incident
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of him is vouched for by the
"

Old Man in the Clouds
"

which ought

to be preserved, as illustrating the condition of the country at that

time, and is as follows : In the spring of 1803 he received, from some

distant friends in the East, a pig, which was allowed to run at large

about the house and in the woods and grew to be a fine shoat of sixty

to eighty pounds. One day as Mr. Hull was chopping wood at his

door he heard the pig squealing in the edge of the clearing, some fif

teen rods distant, as if something unusual was the matter. A windfall

of large pines lay between the house and the standing timber, which

concealed the location from which the sound was heard, but taking his

axe in hand and followed by his oldest son and Thomas Lewis, Mr.

Hull rushed to the rescue. Arriving upon the scene he discovered a

large bear, with the pig closely embraced in its fore paws, marching

off towards the swamp. The bear shortly arrived at a log over which

he was struggling to carry his prize, when Mr. Hull dashed up from be

hind and drove his axe into the head of the robber, killing him in

stantly and exclaiming at the same time,
"

Damn you, Bruin, I'll teach

you the result of stealing my only pig in broad daylight.
"

The pig,

though badly injured, recovered and reached full grown proportions.

In the year 1801, there arrived from New Jersey the Lacy brothers,

Richard, Thomas, Daniel, Benjamin and James, who located, the first,

where Jackson Jameson now lives, the next three in Dryden village,

and the youngest, James, near Dryden Lake. All afterwards removed

farther west, except Benjamin, the father of the late John C. Lacy, of

whom we shall have more to say hereafter in connection with Dryden

village. In the same year two brothers, Peter and Christopher Sny

der, came from Oxford, N. J., and commenced a clearing on Lot 43, to

which they emigrated in the following season, as will be seen at length

in a succeeding chapter upon the
"

Snyder Family in Dryden.
"

William Sweezy lived one-half mile north ofVarna and a man by the

name of Cooper settled one-half mile south of Etna as early as 1801.

Andrew Sherwood, a soldier of the Revolution, who was the ances

tor of another family which has multiplied and flourished in Dryden,

came with his son Thomas and settled on Lot No. 9 in the year 1802.

CHAPTER VIII.

THE POLITICAL ORGANIZATION OF THE TOWN.

From 1794 until 1803, as we have seen, Township No. 22 (including

all the present towns of Enfield, Ulysses, and Ithaca, town and city)
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was merged in its political organisation with Township No. 23 (Dry

den) under the name of Ulysses. In the year
.1794,

the assessed valur

ation of the whole town, as thus constituted, was _100,
and the tax

levied _12and 10 shillings, as they then counted money, being a tax

of more than twelve per cent on the valuation. In 1797, the popula

tion of the whole town of Ulysses was returned at 52 and the valuation

at $4,777, our decimal system of
currencj'

having been substituted

for the old English form of money. In 1798 the population had in

creased to 60 and the valuation to $5,000. In the year 1800, the cen

sus shows a population of 927, a rapid increase, which continued for

some years, but not more than one third of it belonged to what is now

Dryden. On the jury list of Ulysses for 1801, are found the names of

three men who resided in Township No, 23, viz : Peleg Ellis, Ichabod

Palmerton, and Jehiel Bouton. At the town meeting of Ulysses, held

at the home of Nathaniel Davenport (the location of which is now in

Ithaca) in March, 1802, it was voted "that the township of Dryden be

set off from
Ulysses."

From this we infer that the name Dryden was

commonly applied to Township No. 23 before it had a separate politi

cal existance, which was effected by an Act of the Legislature passed

Feb. 22, 1803. At the first town meeting, held at the home of Captaiu

George Robertson, March 1, 1803, the following officers were chosen :

Supervisor George Robertson.

Town ClerkJoel Hull.

Assessors John Ellis, Joel Hull, Peleg Ellis.

Constable and Collector Daniel Lacy.

Poormasters William Garrison, Philip S. Robertson.

Commissioners of Highways Lewis Fortner, Ezekiel Sanford, Will

iam Harned.

Fence Viewers and Overseers of Highways Amnah Peet, Ebenezer

Clauson, David Foote, Joseph Schofield.

Pound Master John Montayney.

It must have been a veritable paradise for office seekers in those

days, for every one could hold an office and still have offices to spare.

We give in this place the full list of Supervisors, Town Clerks, and

Justices of the Peace of the town to the present time, thus calling to

mind many prominent citizens of by-gone days :

SUPERVISORS.

George Robertson, - 1803 William Miller, - - 1805

John Ellis, - - 1804 John Ellis, - - 1806-12
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Jesse Stout, - 1813 Smith Robertson, - 1851-3

John Ellis, 1814 Hirani Snyder, 1854r-6

Parley Whitmore, - 1815 Jeremiah W. Dwight, - 1857-8

John Ellis, 1816 Lemi Grover, - 1859-61

Parley Whitmore, - 1817 Caleb Bartholomew, - 1862

John Ellis, 1818-34 Luther Griswold, 1863-5

Joshua Phillips, 1835-37 John M. Smith, - 1866-71

John Ellis, 1838 James H. George, 1872-3

Joshua Phillips, - - 1839 Edwin R. Wade, - - 1874

Elias W. Cady, 1840-1 Harrison Marvin, 1875-9

Henry B. Weaver, 1842-3 James H. George, - 1880-1

Jeremiah Snyder, 1844 George M. Rockwell, - 1882-4

Wessels S. Middaugh, - 1845-7 James H. George, - - 1884-5

Albeit J. Twogood, 1848 George M. Rockwell, - 1886-7

Hiram Snyder, - 1849 John H. Kennedy, 1888-95

Charles Givens, 1850 Theron Johnson, 1896-7

TOWN (_LEUKS.

Joel Hull, 1803 Walker Marsh, - 1844-5

William Miller, - 1804 Nelson Givens, 1846-7

Joel Hull, 1805-7 Walker Marsh, '- 1848-9

Derick Sutfin, - 1808 Nelson Givens, 1850

John Wickham, 1809 Oliver Stewart, - 1851-3

Thomas Southworth, 1810-11 Richard M. Beaman, 1854-6

Isaiah Giles, - 1812 George H. Houtz, - 1857-74

Parley Whitmore, 1813-14 George S. Barber, 1875-7

Josiah Newell, 1815-16 John S. Barber, - 1878

Henry B Weaver, 1817-19 DeWitt T. Wheeler, - 1879

Benj. Aldridge, 1820-31 Geo. H. Houtz, - 188C-7

Abram Bouton, - 1832 C. B. Snyder, - 1888-9

Hiram Boutou, 1833 Henry C. Warriner, - 1890

Henry B. Weaver, - 1834-9 Fred E. Darling, 1891-3

Rice Weed, 1840 John M. Ellis, - 1894-5

Bryan Finch, - 1841 Fred E. Darling, 1896-7

C. S. C. Dowe, 1842-3

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE,

Derick Sutfin, -

Ruloff Whitney,

1803 Samuel Hemmingway, 1803

1803 Isaiah Giles, -

"

- 1810



26 HISTORY OF DRYDEN.

RuloffWhitney, 1810 Abraham Tanner, - 1857

Jacob Primrose, - 1811-12 Alviras Snyder, 1858

Ithamar Whipple, 1811-12 James H. George, - 1859

James Weaver, -

.1818 Thomas Hunt, 1860

Jesse Stout, 1818 Edmund H. Sweet, - 1861

Parley Whitmore, - 1818 Alviras Snyder, 1862

Rice Weed, 1825 James H. George, - 1863

Thomas Hance, Jr., - 1825 Isaac Cremer, - 1864

Jesse Stout, 1825 Abraham Tanner, - - 1865

Wessels S. Middaugh, - 1829 Hananiah Wilcox, 1866

James McElheny, 1830 James H. George, - - 1867

Schuyler Goddard, - 1831-2 Thomas Hunt, 1868

Rice Weed, 1833 Hiram Bouton, - 1868

William H. Miller, - 1833-4 Hananiah Wilcox, 1869

Ephraim Sharp, 1835 Wm. W. Snyder, - - 1870

Moses C. Brown, - - 1836 Almanzo W. George, - 1871

Henry B. Weaver, 1837 Geo. E. Goodrich, - 1872

Moses C. Brown, - - 1837 John W. WTebster, 1873

Parley Whitmore, 1838 Warren C. Ellis, - - 1873

Rice Weed, - 1838 John Snyder, - 1874

Wm. H. Miller, 1838 Almanzo W.George, - 1875

Elijah Fox, - 1839 Wm. H. Goodwin, Jr., 1876

Parley Whitmore, 1840 Wm. J. Smith, - 1876

Rice Weed, - 1841 John W. Webster, 1877

Nicholas Brown, 1842 John T. Morris, - - 1878

Thomas Hunt, - 1842 Geo. R. Burchell, 1878

S. S. Barger, - 1843 Wm. E. Brown, - 1879

Abraham Tanner, - - 1844 Geo. E. Monroe, 1880

Walker Marsh, 1845 Geo. E. Hanford, - 1881

S. S. Barger, - 1846 Geo. Snyder, - 1882

Thomas Hunt, 1847 Wm. J. Shaver, 1882

Abraham Tanner, - - 1848 Wm. E. Brown, 1883

Walker Marsh, 1848 Geo. E. Underwood, 1883

Andrew P. Grover, - 1849 Geo. E. Monroe, 1884

Thomas Hunt, 1850 Alviras Snyder, 1885

Abraham Tanner, - - 1851 Artemas L. Smiley, - 1886

Andrew P. Grover, 1852 Geo. E. Underwood, - 1886

Walker Marsh, - 1853 Wm. E. Brown, 1887

Abraham Tanner, 1854 Artemas L. Smiley, 1887

Eleazer Case, - 1855 Geo. E. Monroe, 1888

William Scott, 1856 Everel F. Weaver, 1889
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Geo. E. Underwood, - 1890 Geo. E. Hanford, - - 1893

Samuel S. Hoff, - - 1891 Geo. E. Underwood, - 1894

Wm. E. Brown, - 1891 Erastus M. Sager, - 1895

J. Dolph Ross, - - 1892 J. Dolph Ross, - 1896

Geo. E. Hanford, - 1892 Bert D. Conklin, - - 1897

We thus have before us the names of the men who for nearly a cen

tury have had the care and management of the political organism

known as the
"

Town of Dryden.
"

The only material change in the

territorial extent of the township was made in 1887, when the easterly

seven lots of the southern tier were set off and annexed to Caroline,
for the reason that they were located much more conveniently to

Slaterville as a business center than to any similar place within the

town of Dryden. The town meetings were early held at different ho

tels in the town, subsequently more often at the Dryden Center House,
until within a few years past, during which they have been held in

election districts. The town was formerly divided into four, but now

consists of six election districts. In the old times one of the duties

of people at town meeting was to apportion the income derived from

the gospel and school lot between the support of the churches and

schools, the statute requiring that it should be annually distributed

by the voice of the people at town meeting so that each should have

some share. In accordance with this requirement it used to be a

Standing custom at every town meeting to pass a resolution that of

the gospel and school funds
"
six cents be appropriated for the sup

port of the gospel and that the balance be devoted to school pur

poses.
"

This was done not from disregard for the welfare of the

gospel, but was in accordance with the general spirit of the country,

which, while liberally providing for public education in the common

schools, declined to impose any compulsory tax upon the people di

rectly Or indirectly, for the support of sectarian or religious institu

tions. The gospel and school lot was for a long time rented and the

rents applied annually as above stated, but subsequently the lot was

sold and the proceeds, about eleven thousand dollars, now forms the

town school fund, which is loaned by the supervisor on bonds and

mortgages and the interest applied annually for the benefit of the

common schools of the township.
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CHAPTER IX.

EVENTS FROM 18t3 TO 1812.

One of the memorable occurrences of this time in the town of Dry
den was the "Great

Eclipse"

which was witnessed June 16, 1806,

when total darkness came on suddenly at mid-day, and the fowls went

to their roosts as though it were night. This was the only total

eclipse of the sun to be visible in this section of the country during the

nineteenth century, and, as we may well imagine, it made a deep im

pression upon the minds of the early inhabitants, who, as we may

safely say, were more superstitious and less informed upon those sub

jects than are we of the present age. It furnished a means of fixing

dates, and old people in later years were accustomed to speak of

things as having taken place before or after the
" Great Eclipse,

"

as

the case might be. The immigration to the town was very rapid dur

ing this time, so much so that when the government census came to

be taken in 1810, it was found that the town of Dryden alone con

tained 1,893 inhabitants, considerably more than one-third of the

number of the present population of the town.

We shall speak more particularly hereafter in connection with Dry
den village, of the arrival of the Griswolds from Connecticut and the

Wheelers from New Hampshire in 1802, and of Jacob Primrose and

others who settled at West Dryden, when we treat of that particular

locality. Thomas Southworth, a tanner and currier, originally from

Massachusetts, and his son John, then ten years of age, located first

at Willow Glen in 1806, and we shall have occasion to refer to them

often hereafter in connection with Willow Glen, and Dryden village

to which they afterward came. Rev. Daniel McArthur, from Scotland,

settled in 1811, on the farm which was after his death owned and oc

cupied by the late Ebenezer McArthur, who in his will (having no

surviving children) devised it, subject to the life estate of his wife, to

the town of Dryden as an addition to the school fund of the town.

At about this time a small company of emigrants from the north of

Ireland, who had temporaraily made a home in Orange county of this

state, located in the South Hill neighborhood at a place which, from

this fact, has since been known as the Irish Settlement. This eolony

included Hugh Thompson, who became a rigid and prominent member

of the Presbyterian church in Dryden village, William Nelson, the

father of Robert Nelson still residing in town, and Joseph McGraw,

Sr., who in after years was known to the writer as an active, talkative,



EVENTS FROM 1803 TO 1812. 29

but quick-witted old man, displaying in his ready speech a rich Irish

brogue. His son John, born in this "Irish
Settlement"

in 1815,
became one of the most accomplished and successful business men

which this or any other town ever produced, and his family will merit

from us later a special biography. We here give the list of those,

some of whom have not already been mentioned, who are known to

have become inhabitants of the town before 1808, many of them being
the ancestors of their now numerous descendants and of many of whom

we shall again have occasion to speak when we come to mention the

particular families or localities with which they are associated. The

list is as follows :

Bartholomew, Jesse,

Barnes, Ichabod,

Brown, Zephaniah

Brown, Reuben,

Blew, Michael,

Brown, Israel

Brown, Obadiah,

Brown, Obadiah, Jr.,

Bailey, Morris,

Bush, Peter,

Carr, Job

Carr, Peleg,

Carr, Caleb,

Conklin, John,

Clark, Samuel,

Callon, William,

Cornelius, John,

Carpenter, Abner,

Cass, Aaron,

Dimmick, Elijah,

Fortner, Lewis

Fulkerson, Benjamin,

Genung, Benjamin,

Girvin, Samuel,

Gray, George,

Giles, Isaiah,
George. Joel,

Griswold, Edward,

Griswold, Abram,

Grover, Andrew,

Hile, Nicholas,

Horner, John,

Hart, Joseph,

Hollenshead, Robert,

Hoagland, Abraham,

Hemmingway, Samuel,

Jennings, Benjamin,

Jay, Joshua,

Jameson, Thomas,

Lewis, Amos,

Lewis, David,

Legg, Matthew,

Luther, Nathaniel,

Luce, Jonathan,

Mineah, John,

McKee, James,

McKee, Robert,

Ogden, Daniel

Owens, Timothy,

Pixley, Enoch,

Palmerton, Ichabod,

Rhodes, Jacob,

Southwick, Israel,

Skellinger, Samuel,

Snyder, Jacob,

Smith, William,

Teeter, Henry,
VanMarter, John,

Wheeler, Seth,

Wheeler, Seth, Jr.,

Wheeler, Enos,

Woodcock, Abraham,

Wickham, John,

White, Richard,

Waldron, John,

Weeks, Luther,

Whipple, Ithamar,

Yeomans, Jason,

Yeomans, Stephen,

We may here properly refer to the fact that the population of the

town of Dryden, as well as of our county in general, was early made

up of individuals from different, though nearly related nationalities

and from localities widely separated. Ethnological scholars tell us

that the superiority of the Anglo-Saxon race is accounted for from the
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fact that it is made up of a union of different races having at no re

mote period the same common origin. The Saxon, Norman, Dane and

ancient Briton were none of them especially distinguished as a na

tionality by themselves, but when united for a number of generations

the result was the formation of the Anglo-Saxon race, whose power

and influence among the nations of the earth now surpasses all others

and whose language, it is now conceded, will in time become the uni

versal language of the world. May we not in like manner expect

great results from the development of a population whose progenitors

included the McGraws, McElhenys, Nelsons, McKees and Lormors,

emigrating from Ireland ; the Lamonts, McArthurs, Robertsons and

Stewarts direct from Scotland ; the Snyders and Albrights, of Dutch,
as well as the Dupee and DeCoudres families, of French ancestry,

while the great majority of the early settlers, the groundwork, so to

speak, of the new society, were of the genuine New England Yankee

stock of recent English derivation, many of them coming here from

the very confines of the
"

Nutmeg
State."

CHAPTER X.

THE WAR OF 1812.

In the minds of the great mass of people of the present age, the im

portance of our war with Great Britain, known as the War of 1812, is

overshadowed and lost sight of in view of the War of the Revolution

which preceded it by about thirty-five years. It is not so regarded by
the careful student of history. The earlier war made our country free,
but it required the latter to make us really independent and respected

as a nation. The latter war also did much to strengthen the bond of

union between the colonies and to make of us a nation rather than a

mere confederation of states.

Our ancestors were poorly prepared for either conflict with the

mother country, supplied as she was with powerful armaments and

standing armies, and it was only the necessities of the occasion which

seemed to suddenly call forth and develop in them the courage and

heroism which enabled them to suceeed. History affords but few in

stances where an inferior number of untrained men, called suddenly
and unexpectedly to arms, have overwhelmingly defeated trained sol

diers as did Jackson with his hasty recruits at New Orleans ; and we

are not required to look so far away from home for instances of the

same character. On the Niagara, frontier in 1814
("
on the

lines,"

as it
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was termed in those days,) General (then Colonel) Winfield Scott and

his brave followers, usually opposed to superior numbers of the en

emy, performed feats of military strategy and heroism, in the battles

of Lundy's Lane and Chippewa, which forced from the unwilling Brit

ish officers exclamations of wonder and admiration, and cannot be

read by us to-day without arousing pride within us, that we are among

the descendants of such heroes. As we read of these instances we can

hardly realize that they are not the events of some far-off country, be

longing to some remote period of time, while they actually did occur

within the present century and within five hours ride by rail from

where we now live. With the exception of some skirmishes with the

Indians, and some events of the same character near Oswego, this is

the nearest that war ever came, and we trust it is the nearest it ever

will come, to our doors. How many of us realize that the company of

Dryden militia which went out to
"

the lines
"

under Captain (after

wards Major) Peleg Ellis, in July, 1812, were taken prisoners together

with Colonel Winfield Scott at the battle of Queenston, which proved

to be the Bunker Hill or Bull Run of that war, but was followed by
hard earned victories which in the end placed the balance largely in

our favor and secured a triumphant result?

It is to be regretted that we and especially our young people in

choosing our reading matter, select descriptions of incidents far re

moved from us in time and space, or more often amuse ourselves by

reading the alluring inventions of fiction ; and then, when we chance

to visit Niagara Falls and see on the opposite shore the imposing and

magnificent Brock monument, 194 feet high, constructed of Niagara

limestone and erected on Queenston Heights, the most prominent

landmark as seen from Lewiston on the American side, we are com

pelled to remain silent or expose our ignorance by asking what that

imposing column was designed to commemorate. If my readers will

obtain from the Southworth Library, or elsewhere,
"

Lossing's Field

Book of the War of 1812,
"

a large and interesting volume, devoted to

the description and illustrating the leading events of this war, they

will find that the perusal of it will well repay their effort and enable

them to repel to some extent at least the charge so often made with

a degree of truth, that Americans are wofully ignorant of their

own history. They will find in it a reference to Colonel (afterwards

General) Bloom, of our adjoining town of Lansing, and afterwards

sheriff of Tompkins county, and to the regiment (which included the

first Dryden company) which he led at Queenston, where he was

wounded. We are indebted to the researches of Charles F. Mulks, of



32 HISTORY OF DRYDEN.

Ithaca, for the information that Aaron Cass, one of the Dryden com

pany from near Ellis Hollow, was struck on the head by a British

cannon ball and instantly killed while the regiment was crossing the

Niagara river in boats to take part in the battle of Queenston. Cass

had been a distinguished soldier of the Revolution from Connecticut,

was a brother-in-law of Aaron Bull, and settled in Ellis Hollow in

1804. Other soldiers of the Dryden company were Aaron Genung,

from near Varna ; Arthur and Stephen B. June, Marcus Palmerton,

Jonathan Luce, George McCutcheon and Peter Snyder. With the ex

ception of the statement that Judge John Ellis afterwards went out to

"the
lines"

with the second Dryden company of militia, leaving but

fourteen able-bodied men in the township, these are all of the re

corded facts which we are able to give concerning Drydeu's participa

tion in the War of 1812. It is regretted that the accounts of Drydeu's

volunteers of that date are so meager, and it reminds us of the

necessity of committing to a written record the achievements of the

Dryden soldiers in the War of the Rebellion, before all of them shall

have passed away, or they, too, will be lost to local history.

We are fortunately able to give from the relation of Thomas J. Mc

Elheny, whose mother was a niece of Major Ellis, an incident of the

battle of Queenston which he has often heard his great-uncle relate,

and which is as follows : As the Dryden company were crossing the

Niagara river to the Canada side, Stephen B. June, impressed with

the importance of the occasion and boiling over with the true martial

spirit, arose in his boat and swinging his hat defiantly called out as

the watchwords of the expedition :
"

Death, Hell or Canada.
"

This

was early in the morning of the day when everything was hopeful and

but few of the enemy were in sight. The battle of the morning was

successful. A landing on the Canada shore was effected, the Queens

ton Heights were gallantly scaled and captured and the Commanding
General Brock of the enemy was mortally wounded in the conflict.

But in the afternoon the reinforcements of the enemy arrived in over

whelming numbers, while the help expected from the American side

failed to appear, and after a brave but hopeless effort at resistance,

the whole American force, including Colonel Scott and Captain Ellis

with their followers, were taken prisoners. Not seeing his townsman,

Stephen B. June, among the prisoners, Captain Ellis went back on

the battle field to look him up, and after searching found him very

severely wounded by a ball which had entered his mouth and passed

out of the back of his neck, just below the base of the skull, fortunate

ly missing the spinal cord. Finding that June was alive and still eon-
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scious, although fearfully wounded, Captain Ellis asked him which it

was now, "Death, Hell or
Canada,"

to which the wounded soldier

feebly but firmly replied :
"

I can't tell quite yet, Captain, which it is,
but when the British bullet struck me I thought I had them all three

at once.
"

June lived to return home and, if we are not mistaken,

some of his family descendants are still inhabitants of the town.

Since writing the above we learn that Geo. R. Burchell, Esq., of Dry
den, is a great-nephew of that same Stephen B. June, although the

most of that family have removed to Alleghany county and further

west. The original commission of Major Ellis as captain, issued to

him February 11, 1811, by Daniel D. Tompkins, then governor of the

state, is one of the relics which were on exhibition at Dryden's Cen

tennial Celebration.

CHAPTER XL

EVENTS FROM 1812 TO 1822.

In the year 1813 there was published at Albany the first edition of

"

Spafford's N. Y. State Gazetteer,
"

which contains the earliest de

scription of the town of Dryden which we have found, and probably

the first ever printed, which we therefore reproduce here in full as

follows :

"

Dryden A post-township in the southeastern extremity of Cayuga

county, 35 miles S. of Auburn, 170 west of Albany ; bounded N. by
Locke, E. by Virgil in Cortlandt county, S. by Tioga county, W. by
Seneca county | which then included Ithaca] and the town of Geneva

| Genoa (?) the part now Lansing.]
"

It is 10 miles square, being one of the military townships, and has

a considerable diversity of surface, soil and timber.

"

Fall Creek of Cayuga Lake with several branches spreads over the

northern and central parts, and Six Mile creek, a fine mill stream,

rises in the S. E. corner, runs into Tioga county and returns across

the S. W. towards the head of Cayuga Lake. There is also another

small stream, and there is an abundance of mill seats, with consider

able tracts of alluvion ; though the general character is hilly with

pretty lofty ridges. The soil of the alluvion is warm, rich and pro

ductive ; that of the uplands rather wet and cold, but excellent for

pasture and meadow. There are two grain mills and carding ma

chines. There are some congregations of Baptists and Presbyterians
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who have houses of worship, but I am not informed of their number ;

and 4 or 5 school houses. The settlements were commenced about

1800, and in 1810 the population amounted to 1890, when there were

310 families and 213 senatorial electors. The whole taxable property,

as assessed in 1810, $84,099. There are 3 turnpike roads that cross

this town, besides common roads in various directions. The inhab

itants are principally farmers whose farms and looms supply much of

their common clothing. _V.T. R. P.
"

In the year 1814 at a special town meeting a board of town school

superintendents was first elected, consisting of Joshua Phillips, Peleg
Ellis and John Ellis. Afterwards in the same year they met and

divided the town into fourteen school districts, which have since been

increased to twenty-seven. The amount of public school money dis

bursed by this board to all the districts in 1814 was $192.47, not one

quarter of the amount now annually received by the Dryden village

district alone. In no department of public affairs has there been such

a marked and continual improvement as in the matter of education in

the common schools. Our young people should realize that in school

opportunities they have a great advantage over the school children of

even twenty-five years ago, while their privileges in this respect are

not to be compared with the very meager opportunities which were

offered for school education in the Pioneer Period of Dryden's history.

The year 1816 was known as the
"
cold season,

"

in which nearly all

of the crops were destroyed by summer frosts, and great scarcity,

almost a famine, resulted. It should be borne in mind that there

were no such means of transportation then as now to relieve a section

where the crops had failed, and no great supply of produce was car

ried over from year to year.

In this year, 1816, Elias W. Cady moved in from Columbia county

and located on the farm near Willow Glen which he owned and oc

cupied for more than sixty years, becoming one of the most prosper

ous farmers of the town. He was a member of the State Legislature

in 1850 and 1857, and his grandson, John E. Cady, has in recent years

twice held the same position. Elias W. Cady in his later years used

to delight to tell how, when he first came to Dryden, ParleyWhitmore,

who kept a store in Dryden village near where the M. E. church now

stands, refused to trust him for a few pounds of nails, and he was

obliged to take a load of produce to Albany to get them.

In the next year, 1817, the new county of Tompkins was formed,
and Dryden became a part of it, instead of being the southeast cor-
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ner of Cayuga county. Cortlandt county (so spelled in those days)
had been formed in 1808, and an unsuccessful effort was made in the

Legislature in the same year, supported by petitions from some of

Dryden's citizens, to make this town a part of it.

A state census made in 1808 shows that the number of electors at

that time in the town of Dryden whose farms exceeded in value _100

(about $500) each, was seventy-four ; two others had farms exceeding

in value 20 (about $100), while the number of electors who rented

tenements of the yearly value of forty shillings was returned at 174.

The census of 1810 having shown a population in the town of 1890,
that of 1814 shows an increase to 2545, while that of 1820 returns a

population of 3995, showing a very rapid increase and reaching, near

the end of the first quarter of the Century Period, a number slightly

exceeding that of the present population, the highest number ever

reached being 5851 returned in 1835, while the latest returns, accord

ing to the census of 1892 after the loss of seven lots in 1888, show

a present population of 3912. The causes which have influenced this

sudden increase and afterwards the gradual decrease of our popula

tion will be treated of in a separate chapter hereafter.

CHAPTER XII.

EEVIEW OF THE PIONEER PERIOD.

We have now hastily passed over the first twenty-five years of the

history of the town of Dryden, as a whole, commencing from the first

settlement in 1797 and extending to the year 1822. We shall refer to

it hereafter as the Pioneer Period, being the first quarter of the cen

tury of Dryden's inhabitation by her present race of population. To

obtain a correct and reliable view of this period, we have been obliged

to look back beyond the reach of human memory and to rely upon

such information as tradition and the fragmentary records of those

early times afford. Reliable memoranda of those times, when ob

tainable, have been quoted minutely as furnishing the most trust

worthy means of obtaining a correct idea of the condition and habits

of our ancestors in that distant period.

We can readily understand
that the wilderness was not transformed

into fine cultivated fields, such as we now have, during that time. The

best of the farms must have been thickly beset with stumps and cradle

knolls when the year 1822 dawned upon the new country. Farming

tools and implements of husbandry were then few and of the rudest
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character. Mr. Bouton says that the first cast iron plow seen in the

town of Virgil was introduced there in the year 1817, and we may as

sume that Dryden was not much in advance of her older sister town

in that respect. Hitherto plowing had been done with a home-made

wooden implement, held with a single handle, the original "mould

board
"

being of wood instead of iron. Fortunate was the farmer in

those days who possessed a sickle with which to cut by hand his grain

standing in the fallow, a handful at a time, and when it had been

threshed with the flail, the willow fan and riddle afforded the best

means of cleaning it for use or market. Such roads as then existed

through the woods would now be considered almost impassable and

all means of transportation were so difficult and expensive that people

lived as far as possible upon their own productions. Log houses were

the rule and frame buildings the exception, even at the end of this

period. We have queried as to whether any old houses, first con

structed in those times, still exist, without becoming much the wiser

for the speculation ; but we mistrust that the little red house, now

used as a storage building on the Burlingame farm, near the reservoir

of the Dryden Village Water Works, is among the oldest survivors of

former dwellings. It was the home of Edward Griswold, Sr., when he

was the owner of a large part, at least, of the lot (No. 39), a mile

square, near the center of which it still stands. John C. Lacy, in his

Reminiscences, states that within his recollection (he was born in Dry
den in 1808) the Dr. Briggs house, originally built by Dr. Phillips, on

South street, but now moved off and occupied by John McKeon, on

Lake street, was the finest house in Dryden village.

All of the dwellings of this period were lighted as well as heated

from the fire in the open fire-place, tallow candles even at this time

being a luxury only to be used on special occasions. Many a time

has the thrifty, industrious housewife of our ancestors, with the aid

of the numerous small children
"

who played around her door,
"

gath

ered in at twilight a supply of pine knots so that she might have them

to throw on the fire as needed to enable her to spin by their light in

the long fall and winter evenings. We regret that we are unable to

do justice to the pioneer Mother of that period, for the reason that

no record was ever made and kept of her hardships and privations,

there having been no
"

strong-minded women
"

in those days to record

them ; and our only remedy is "to give to her a full half of all the

credit which belongs to the pioneer families for all of that which was

accomplished.

Sheep husbandry prospered in the new country as soon as the
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sheep could be protected from the wild animals of the surrounding

forests, and the cultivation of flax was early introduced. So abundant

was the flax seed left after the fiber was worked up into cloth, that an

oil mill to express the linseed oil was early in operation on what is

now South street in Dryden village, the heavy frame of which mill

still serves to support a dilapidated barn, the covering of which was

put on new since its use as an oil mill was discontinued. The plain

clothing of the family was made from homespun linen and woolen

cloth, coarse and heavy but at the same time strong and durable.

Joseph McGraw, Sr., already referred to as the father of the mil

lionaire, John McGraw, came into the settlement in this period as a

professional weaver, going from house to house to work on the hand

looms of those days and to instruct others in the art; and his fellow

townsman, Benjamin Wood, the grandfather of our ex-governor, A.

B. Cornell, at the same time was known and employed as a "reed

maker,
"

manufacturing by hand from reeds the delicate parts of the

looms by which the warp was manipulated in the process of weaving.

Mr. Wood early resided near Willow Glen in the little old wood-

colored house recently taken down on the farm formerly owned by
Charles Cady ; but afterwards he became the proprietor of the prem

ises near Etna, known as Woodlawn. A subsequent chapter will be

devoted to Mr. Wood and his family.

We have intentionally omitted from our narrative some hunting and

fishing stories which have come down to us, suspecting that even the

good and true old men of those times, like their descendants, might be

given to exaggeration upon those subjects, and preferring to leave them

out altogether rather than to furnish exaggerated fiction under the

guise of reliable history. We should, however, say something con

cerning the wild animals which were native here when disturbed in

their haunts by the pioneers.

Of the larger animals the deer were very abundant and did not

wholly disappear from the forests of the town until about 1835. It

seems to be stated upon good authority that Peleg Ellis, during the

first autumn of his settlement in Dryden, killed eighteen deer so near

his log house that he drew them all up to his door upon his ox sled.

The woods were full of small game and the squirrels and chipmunks

were so abundant that when the raising of grain was first attempted

in the small clearings entirely surrounded by the forest, it was almost

impossible to save it from destruction by these pests. It was only by
persistent trapping and hunting and sometimes by the use of poisoned

bait that the crop was secured. The bears and wolves were some-
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what troublesome, but they soon avoided the neighborhood of the

settlements. The only animal which seriously endangered human

life, and that not often except when hunted and at bay, was the cou

gar, or puma, or American lion as it was sometimes called, and often

referred to by old people as the painter or panther, but improperly so,

the true panther being a denizen of Africa. This cougar or puma was

a cat-like carniverous animal about five feet long, of a reddish brown

color above and nearly white underneath, being closely related to the

leopard family of animals. It was King of Beasts on the American

continent, nearly all of which it originally inhabited, and woe to the

unsuspecting deer or other animal which passed under the tree from

which it was watching to spring upon its prey. It had a peculiar cry

which was sometimes mistaken for that of a human being in distress,

and many were the thrilling stories told of it by the early settlers,

although it was too cowardly to often attack mankind.

The American eagle, too, in early times made his home -in Dryden,
as appears from the following account published in the Ithaca Daily
Journal of April 20, 1880, as copied from the Dubuque (Iowa) Times

of an earlier date :

"

In the years of 1828-9 a man discovered an eagle's nest in the top
of a pine tree on the bank of Fall Creek in the town of Dryden, Tomp
kins county, N. Y., east of the town of Ithaca. The tree was cut and

three young bald-headed eagles just ready to fly left the nest before

the tree reached the ground. They were caught. One of them was

presented to Roswell Randall, a wealthy and prominent merchant re

siding in Courtland Villa, Courtland county, N. Y. He caged, fed and

cared for the bird two or three years. It grew fast and became a very

large, noble bird of attraction. Mr. Randall placed the caged prisoner

by the side of the front walk leading to his beautiful mansion, in the

foregrounds, that visitors and passers-by could easily enjoy the sight.

Finally the bird caused so much trouble that Mr. Randall gave it to

William Bassett, a near neighbor, who was an engraver and silver

smith ; in politics an old line Whig. In 1831 a Fourth of July cele

bration was had in the village. Mr. Bassett being a public spirited

man, added largely to the enjoyment of the day by preparing a silver

clasp with these words engraved upon it, viz :
'

To Henry Clay, of

Louisville, Ky., fromWm. Bassett, of Courtland Villa, Courtland coun

ty, N.
Y.,'

and riveting it loosely, around one of the legs of the eagle

carried the bird and placed it on top of the cupola of the Eagle Hotel

in the village, its head in a southwest direction. The military corps
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and citizens being drawn up in front of the hotel, the eagle was set

at liberty. It stood erect upon the cupola, made three flaps with its

wings, then set off southwest. The military were ordered to fire, the

citizens, swinging their hats, gave three cheers for Henry Clay. The

eagle continued its course till out of sight.
"

This was on the Fourth of July, 1831. The sequel subsequently

appeared in the Western papers giving an account of a
"

large bald-

headed eagle being shot by an Indian on a high, towering bluff on the

west bank of the Mississippi, about three miles north of Dubuque, on

the eleventh day of July, 1831, measuring seven feet three inches from

tip to tip of outstretched wings, having an engraved silver clasp rivet

ed around one of his legs reading as follows, viz :
'

To Henry Clay, of

Louisville, Ky., from Wm. Bassett, of Courtland Villa, N. Y.
'

In

seven days from the time this noble bird graced the dome of the Eagle

Hotel and set sail in the direction of Henry Clay's residence he was

shot as above stated.
"

This incident was first furnished to the press by G. R. West, who

was present at the celebration at Cortland in 1831 and saw the eagle

take its flight from the old Eagle Hotel, which stood where the Mes

senger House is now located in Cortland village, and the promontory

on the Iowa bank of the Mississippi river, where the eagle was shot

as above stated, has sinee been known as
"

Eagle Point,
"

and is a

land-mark for all steamboat men on the upper Mississippi.

But the most interesting of the native animals which inhabited Dry
den was the beaver. These industrious creatures were about the size

of a small dog, and lived on the bark of trees, taking up their habita

tions in colonies of fifty or more each, in the streams, across which

they built dams with wonderful instinctive sagacity. They formed

houses of sticks plastered with mud so regular and perfect that they

seemed almost to be the work of human hands. It was some time

before the writer could ascertain to a certainty that the beaver in

habited Dryden. The name
"

Beaver Creek,
"

applied to a sluggish,

muddy stream in the northeast corner of the township, first suggested

the thought and was followed up by inquiry which develops the fact

that the remains of a beaver dam could be distinctly seen in the woods

on this creek as late as twenty-five years ago. These interesting ani

mals carried so much value in the fur upon their backs that they could

not long survive the efforts of the pioneer hunters to capture them, and

hence they early disappeared from this section of the country, so that

their former presence here had been almost forgotten.
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CHAPTER XIII.

THE PERIOD OF DEVELOPMENT TRANSPORTATION.

We now enter upon the second quarter-century of Dryden's inhab

itation, extending from 1823 to 1847 inclusive, which, for the want of

a more appropriate name, we shall refer to as the
"

Period of De
velopment."

The term development might properly be applied to

the entire period of Dryden's history, but we feel justified in ap

plying it especially here from the fact that during this particular

time the town supported, and was developed by the aid of, its larg
est number of inhabitants, and the change of its territory from a

"howling
wilderness"

to a productive, civilized country township was

more rapid at this time than at any other. WTe shall not attempt

to review the events of this period so much in their chronological

order as was done in treating the
"

Pioneer Period,
"

but we shall

view the development of our subject from several different standpoints,

first giving attention to the matter of transportation.

As we have already seen, the earliest pioneer settlers came bringing
their scanty supplies on ox-sleds with wooden shoes, the primitive

"Bridle
Road"

presumably not being adapted to transportation by
wheeled vehicles, even in the summer time. At the end of the first

twenty-five years the principal thoroughfares had become passable

by wagons and stages, the stumps having been removed, the low

places being filled with corduroy crossing and the principal streams

being spanned with pole bridges. Our highways are none too good

at the present time, but we can realize that very much has been done,
and much time and labor has been required, to bring them to even

their present state of development. Those of us who have occasion to

use
"

woods roads
"

of the present day are not surprised to read the

accounts of the frequency with which the early teamsters became
"

mired
"

in using the only means of transportation which was then

afforded. In view of these circumstances we are not surprised to

learn that the first mail was carried by a man on foot between Oxford

and Ithaca from 1811 to 1817, and that the first stage commenced

running between Homer and Ithaca through Dryden in 1824. Other

localities seem to have been more early favored than ours in this

respect and the Bath and Jericho Turnpike, chartered by the State in

1804, and later forming a part of the old Ithaca and Catskill stage

route and still known as the
"

turnpike
"

from Slaterville to Ithaca,

passing through the southwest corner of our town, was one of the
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early^thoroughfaresconnecting the East with the West. But during
the period of which we are now speaking transportation on the prin

cipal highways, in the absence of all other means, was very much em

ployed, and upon the Bridle Road between Dryden and Ithaca nearly,

if not quite, a dozen local hotels or
"

Taverns,
"

as they were then

called, ministered to the wants of travelers and teamsters, and in so

doing conducted a thriving business. One of them was the Dryden

Center House originally built and operated early in this period by
Benjamin Aldrich, already mentioned among the earhy town officers.

DRYDEN CENTER HOUSE.

Unlike most of these country inns the Center House has not been per

mitted to run down, but under the management of its present proprie

tor, Gardner W. S. Gibson, has been repaired and improved so that

it now presents a modern appearance, fully in keeping with its prom

inence in the early history of the town. Here for a long time town

meetings were held and the official business of the town transacted

and it is still patronized as the proper place for holding town cau

cuses. It was not uncommon in those days for such farmers as Ed

ward Griswold and Elias W. Cady to take a wagon load of produce to

market at Albany, returning with a load of store goods, and at certain
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seasons of the year the roads to Syracuse were lined with teamsters

returning with wagon loads of salt, lime and plaster, after having

taken loads of farm produce to market. Towanda, then the head of

navigation on the Susquehanna river, was also a favorite shipping

point at which Dryden farmers marketed their produce.

The Erie Canal ("Clinton's
Ditch"

as it was derisively called in

those times) was opened to navigation in 1825, and in the absence of

railroads it soon became a great aid in the means of transportation.

Some of the later settlers of this period, James Tripp, for example,

who came in from Columbia county in 1836, shipped their goods by

way of the canal and drove across the country with their horses and

wagons. The Ithaca & Owego Railroad, the second to be chartered

in the State, passed over a small corner of Dryden and was opened in

1834, but it was operated wholly by horse power in those days, and

gave but little indication of the efficiency, as a means of transporta

tion, afforded by railroads of the present time. Still until the finan

cial panic of 1836, which was a
temporary-

set back, this was a time of

rapid growth and prosp.< rity. Permanent buildings were constructed

and manufacturing enterprises were instituted. The only brick dwell

ing ever constructed in Dryden village was built by John Southworth

in 1836. The Mallory brothers, from Homer, in 1826 located on Fall

Creek at a point since called from them, Malloryville, and there oper

ated a saw-mill, chair factory, carding and cloth dressing machinery

and a dye house, employing from thirty to forty hands, and prosper

ing until their mills were destroyed by fire in 1836, when they re

moved farther west. One of these Mallory brothers (Samuel) recent

ly died at Elkhorn, Wisconsin, in his ninety-ninth year.

One of the distressing occurrences of this time, but one which we

do not feel at liberty to omit from our History, which professes to

speak of all the prominent events, resulted from the connection of the

murderer, Edward H. Ruloff, with the town of Dryden. In the year

1842 he served as a school teacher in Dryden village and numbers of

his pupils are still residents here. He came originally from the

province of New Brunswick. On December 31, 1843, he married

Miss Harriet Schutt, a lovely Dryden girl seventeen years of age, who

had been one of his pupils. They moved to the town of Lansing. In

1845 a daughter was born to them, but shortly afterwards the wife

and daughter disappeared, the only visible means of their disappear

ance being a large strong wooden box with which Ruloff was ,seen

to drive away in a wagon towards Cayuga Lake.

He was soon after arrested in the West and brought back to this
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county; the bottom of the lake was dredged for the box in vain, and,

there being no direct evidence of murder, Ruloff wras finally sentenced
to ten years in State's Prison for abducting his wife. Having served

his term he was released and disappeared from public view until the

year 1871, when he was convicted of participating in a robbery and

murder at Binghamton, for which he was executed. He was a singu

lar character, being a profound and diligent student, and his career was

an interesting, though terrible one, afterwards being made the sub

ject of magazine articles upon moral insanity, of which it seemed to

furnish a striking example.

CHAPTER XIV.

IMMIGRATION AND EMIGRATION.

If we examine a small inland body of water, such as our Dryden

Lake known to the early inhabitants as
"

Little Lake
"

we shall

find that it is connected with a small stream known as the inlet and

a larger one called the outlet. During the spring floods the inflow is

greater than the outflow, the result being that the water rises in the

lake until it reaches what is called
"
high water mark.

"

Then during
the dry summer and autumn, as the inflow is rapidly decreased while

the outflow continues unabated, the supply of water is reduced until

"
low water mark

"

is reached. Now, if we will picture to ourselves

our town of Dryden as the dry bed of a lake, to which the tide of im

migration commenced to flow in 1797, and continued to flow rapidly

until 1835, when the increasing outflow of emigration exceeded the

diminishing inflow of immigration, and has so continued ever since,

we shall have in mind before us the comparison sought for, to cor

rectly illustrate this subject. Many of the early inhabitants or their

children continued their migrations to points farther west. For ex

ample we have seen that a number of the children of Captain Robert

son, the first freeholder of the town, early sought new homes in the

West, where they have made reputations for themselves. Of the five

Lacy brothers all of whom settled here in 1801, four in later years

moved on further west, while only one, the father of the late John C.

Lacy, remained. Until we come to consider it carefully, but few of us

can realize the great and continuous drain which has been made

upon the older settlements of the East to build up and populate the

Great West during the past seventy-five years.

The writer was strikingly reminded of the reality of this fact upon
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his first visit to the West some twenty-five years ago. At the end of

his journey he found himself in an inland town of the state of Michi

gan, imagining himself to be a stranger in a strange land. Having
occasion to call upon a justice of the peace he stopped at the first

office which displayed a sign of that character, hesitating to introduce

himself as from Dryden, N. Y., doubting whether the inmate of the

office had ever heard of such a place. Mustering up his courage,

however, he ventured to state to the officer where he was from, and

you may imagine his surprise upon the magistrate's extending his

hand saying :
"

Why, I used to live in Dryden,
"

and he immediately
commenced inquiring about some of the old citizens of Dryden, whom

he had known here thirty years before. A gentleman who happened

to be in the office reading a newspaper, here interrupted by saying :

*'

I never lived in Dryden, but my wife used to be a resident of that

town.
"

The surprise and revelation was complete, and further ex

perience in states farther west has confirmed the fact, that the great

western part of our country is thickly sprinkled over with inhabitants

who have either themselves been at some time residents of Dryden or

whose ancestors came from our town. Hardly a city of any size or

a county in any of the Western States can be found to-day which has

not some inhabitants who in this way derive their origin from the

town of Dryden. They are found among all the classes and condi

tion of the Western population, from the farmer and common laborer

to the Legislators and Judges, the town of Dryden having recently

furnished to one of the newly formed Western states its first elected

governor.

If all of the western population who can trace their origin directly
or indirectly to the town of Dryden, could have been brought together

at our Centennial Celebration, the whole township would have been

taxed to its utmost to furnish accommodation for the vast concourse

of people, and the grounds of the Agricultural Society would have

been inadequate to furnish them standing room.

In view of these facts it is no disparagement to the town that its

population has decreased for the past sixty years. The Great West

has continually been offering superior advantages to our young men,

the more ambitious and adventursome of whom have been and still

are taking advantage of these opportunities, leaving behind the more

conservative (and shall we say less enterprising?) to till the same

farms and pursue in a quiet way the same avocations as was done by
our fathers before us. And yet, in spite of this drain upon the best

life blood of the population, we shall submit to those former residents
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who shall from time to time revisit us, that we have not permitted

the town to run down in its enterprise and productiveness, but that

with the aid of improved machinery and better buildings and methods,

the farms, as a whole, have been improved and rendered more pro

ductive, while the general business interests of the people, with bet

ter means of manufacture and transportation, and superior education

al advantages, have not suffered in comparison with the earlier times.

There is coming a limit to this outflow of population, the Great West

is filling up, and the time is sure to come when the tide of migration

will ebb back to our shores, and then the town of Dryden will support

a greater and we trust a more prosperous population than ever before.

CHAPTER XV.

OCCUPATION OF THE INHABITANTS.

During this
"
development

"

period Dryden was emphatically a lum

bering town. Agricultural operations had been developed sufficiently

to support the population, but the surplus product of the township at

this time in this era of building was mainly pine lumber of a superior

quality. This did not need to seek a distant market but was in ready

demand at the low price which then prevailed of from four to five dol

lars per thousand feet by the country immediately north and east

of us, which was not well supplied with pine timber. The following
statistics concerning Dryden are gathered from the second edition of

"

Spafford's N. Y.
Gazetteer,"

published in 1824, and furnish valuable

data bearing upon this subject of the occupation of the people :

Number of grist-mills in town, 4 ; saw-mills, 26 ; fulling-mills, 2 ;

carding-machines, 4 ; distilleries, 5 ; asheries, 4 ; population, 3,950 ;

taxable property, $208,866 ; electors, 733 ; farmers, 2,005 ; mechanics,

132 ; shop-keepers or traders, 4 ; number of families, 634 ; acres of im

proved land, 14,323 ; number of neat cattle, 3,670 ; number of horses,

674 ; number of sheep, 6,679 ; number of yards of cloth manufactured

in families in 1821, 37,300 ! ! Number of school districts, 20 ; public

school money in 1821, $576.05.

We observe from this record the small number of horses kept com

pared with cattle ; the small number of store-keepers compared with

the number of farmers and mechanics, and the small amount of tax

able property, not being one-fifth of what the farm buildings of the

town are to-day insured for in the Dryden and Groton company.

In the year 1835 the number of saw-mills in operation was fifty-
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three, all employed in working up the great quantity of timber, mostly

pine, which produced the ready money for the people, the predomi

nance of which industry greatly retarded other farming interests.

The picturesque fences of pine stumps, now disappearing, but which

have served their purpose in this form for half a century, often attract

the attention of strangers and are reminders of the former abundance

of pine. Any person who has occasion to pass through the wood

land remaining on the Dryden hills to-day may observe the large

weather-beaten but almost imperishable pine stumps still standing in

the woods, from which the wealth of pine timber was taken in this peri

od of our history. Every merchant of those times kept in connection

with his store a lumber yard, where he received from his customers

lumber in exchange for goods. John McGraw, then a clerk in a Dry
den village store, obtained his first lessons in the lumber business in

handling the local pine timber of the town, from the profits of which

he obtained his start in the financial world, and afterwards applying

his experience thus obtained to larger operations elsewhere, he amas

sed the fortune which netted over two million dollars to his estate

after his decease. Dryden must then have presented the appearance

of a vast lumber camp, the fifty-three saw-mills, all run by water

power, giving employment to a great many men in cutting logs, draw

ing them to mill, and manufacturing and marketing the lumber, opera

tions all requiring much more labor to produce the same results then

than now. Like all lumbering communities Dryden did not present a

very advanced or refined state of development in that period, and

John Southworth, who was a keen and careful observer of men and

things in those times in which he participated, used to say in after

years that the Dryden farmer, who occasionally took out of his clear

ing in those days to the county seat of this or an adjoining county

with his ox team a load of lumber, or perhaps a cargo of charcoal, or

sometimes a few barrels of potash salts leached from the ashes

gathered after the burning of his fallow, when he was interrogated by
the tradesmen to whom he sold his products as to where his home

was, would admit with no little hesitation and embarrassment, that he

lived "just in the edge of
Dryden."

A great change has taken place since that time. The pine timber

lands, so valuable to the lumbermen, but after the removal of the tim

ber, so beset with obstacles in the shape of the pine roots and stumps,

so troublesome to the agriculturist, have at length been subdued and

reduced to cultivation, and prove to be possessed of rich and enduring

qualities of fertility. The disposition of the Dryden farmers to devote
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their efforts to dairying instead of grain-raising has tended to improve

rather than diminish the natural resources of the soil. In place of the

original pine timber, excellent farm buildings have been supplied, and

the Dryden farmer is no longer ashamed to acknowledge the location

of his home. In fact his tendencies now seem to be in the other ex

treme, and subject him to the charge that he believes that his town

was created a little better than the rest of the world in general. The

interest which was manifested in the celebration of Dryden's Centen

nial, is proof of the pride which her inhabitants now take in acknowl

edging and honoring their native town.

CHAPTER XVI.

REVIEW OF THE DEVELOPMENT PERIOD.

We have failed to mention the war with Mexico, which occurred

during this period from 1846 to 1848, resulting in the addition to our

country of a vast amount of western territory, including California.

This war did not excite great interest in the state of New York, and so

far as we can learn no organized effort was made in Dryden to pro

mote it, and no volunteers, except perhaps a few scattering adven

turers, went from Dryden to engage in it. It was a Southern measure,

not over popular at that time in the North, although in its results it

proved to be important and highly beneficial to the country at large.

This was an era of prosperity in which the value of real estate and

other property maintained a healthy improvement. As the water

power used by the saw-mills ceased to be required for that purpose

on account of the rapidly decreasing supply of saw logs, attention was

given to other kinds of manufacturing to which these water powers

were adapted ; and hence many of the mills and factories of the town

date back to this period.

During this time stoves to a great extent took the place of the old-

fashioned fireplaces, and tallow candles furnished the means of house

lighting in the evening, supplemented toward the end of this period by
sperm oil lamps and an explosive burning fluid compounded of cam-

phine and alcohol.

The anti-slavery movement developed largely during this time.

The census of 1820 shows that there were then held in the county

of Tompkins fifty slaves, of whom thirty-two were held in the town of

Caroline, nine in the town of Hector, six in the town of Danby and

three in Ulysses ( then including Ithaca), but none were then held in
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the towns of Dryden, Groton or Lansing. In the preliminary draft of

this chapter we said that we found no evidence that negro slavery ever

existed in the town of Dryden. We had learned that Edward Gris

wold kept in his family an old negro by the name of Jack O'Liney,
who had once been a slave, but who seems to have been harbored by
Mr. Griswold as a subject of charity. Further investigation develops

the fact that Aaron Lacy, who came to Dryden in 1799, while he re

sided on the Stickles corner in Willow Glen, bought and kept as a do

mestic servant, a slave girl by the name of Ann Wisner, remembered

by some of the older people as
"

Black
Ann,"

who was sent to school

by her master in the Willow Glen district in those early years, ai*d

who, after her emancipation moved to Ithaca and has since then fre

quently revisited the family of her former master. In the will of Aa

ron Lacy dated in the year 1826 and recorded in the surrogate's office

of Tompkins county in book B, page 69, this slave girl is bequeathed

to his widow, Eliza Lacy. Perhaps other slaves were held in Dryden,
but we learn of no others, and slavery was abolished in the whole state

of New York early in this period, July 4, 1827.

A great change in the customs in regard to the use of alcoholic and

spirituous liquors took place during this time. As we have seen, in

1824 there were five distilleries of whiskey in operation in the town

and we are told that everybody in those days made use of it. Intoxi

cating liquor of some kind was considered a necessity to be furnished

at every raising of the frame of a new building, and no farmer could

commence haying without providing a supply of strong drink for the

use of himself and his help during this laborious operation in those

times. Tradition says that for the raising of the frame of the Presby
terian church edifice in Dryden village, which occupied a week in the

year 1819, a large amount of whiskey was supplied to the volunteer

workmen. Whether, as is sometimes claimed by old people, the whis

key of those days was so pure that it had none of the pernicious ef

fects which attend the intemperate use of the modern article of the

same name, is fortunately not within the province of history to deter

mine.

In reviewing the first fifty years of Dryden's inhabitation we cannot

but be impressed with the great progress and improvements which

had been made, and doubtless the inhabitants of 1847 considered that

the limit of progress in art and science had then almost been reached,

and that but few improvements could be expected in the future. Yet

at that time not a single mowing machine, reaper or family sewing

machine had ever been brought into the township, the first of the for-
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mer, an Emory mower, having been brought into town by Elias W.

Cady in 1850, and of the latter the first was a Grover & Baker sewing
machine presented to Mrs. John E. McElheny by her brother, Vol-

ney Aldrich, of New York, in about 1857, the cost of which was one

hundred thirty dollars. At that time people came from as far asWest

Dryden to see a machine which could
"

actually
sew,"

and that same

machine is still in active use.

Up to this time not a single bushel of mineral coal ("stone
coal"

as it

was called in those days) had ever been introduced, the first, as we learn,

being a barrel of blacksmith's coal brought in from Ithaca as an experi

ment by Obed Lindsey and Jim Patterson in 1850. Kerosene oil had

then never been heard of, and it was some time before "stone
coal"

was

used here for heating houses, the term
"coal"

then being universally ap

plied to charcoal, which Was used much more commonly than now.

We believe we are safe in stating that up to this time not a single

steam engine, either stationary or portable, had ever been introduced

into the town except where the D. L. & W. R. R. now crosses the

south-west corner. On that old road in 1840 it was attempted to use

the first locomotive, but without success until it was sent back to

Schenectady to be enlarged and improved. When returned it was so

heavy that it wrecked one of the bridges and was abandoned until

about 1847, when steam power first became a practical success on this

old line of railroad.

In concluding this chapter we quote two stanzas from a centennial

poem written by a lady who was born in our adjoining county of Cort

land and who is a relative of the Hammond family in Dryden, as

follows :

"

Where women sat beside their looms,
A hundred years ago,

And wove in cloth the threads they spun

Of linen, wool, and tow,
Now great King Steam, in work shops large,
Like some old giant elf,

Gets up with angry puff and roar

And does the work himself.

"

The poor, old stage coach lumbered on,

A hundred years ago,

O'er rugged roads and mountains steep,

Its progress was but slow ;

Now, through the mountain's heart, and o'er

Deep chasms, yawning wide,

With iron steeds, in palace ears,

How fearlessly we
ride."

Lurcmah Hammond.
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CHAPTER XVII.

THE CIVIL WAR PERIOD SLAVERY.

It is with a consciousness of our inability to do the subject justice

that we undertake to record the history of Dryden in connection with

the War of the Rebellion and the great events which immediately pre

ceded and followed it, occupying the third quarter of our Century

Period, and extending from 1847 to 1872. It was no slight misunder

standing or sudden outburst of jealousy or anger which caused the en

lightened and usually sober-minded people of our country North

and South to engage with all their might in a fierce and bloody con

flict lasting over four years, sacrificing hundreds of thousands of lives

and expending billions of money, involving in its results the very ex

istence of the nation itself. No section of the country stood more loy

ally by the government, freely offering up its treasure and the lives of

its best citizens for the support of the Union and the cause of freedom

in this desperate struggle than did the town, of Dryden, and none can

claim a greater interest in, or credit for, the result. In the darkest

days of the conflict, when the draft riots in New York city indicated

weariness of the war, and the votes of the majorities in some sections

seemed ready to declare the war a failure, our people continued to roll

up increasing majorities at the polls for the war party, and with a firm

determination to win, promptly responded to all calls for men and

money. To the extent in which she participated in it, the history of

this war is the history of Dryden and will be so treated.

In the light of history it is no uncertain fact that the cause of this

war was negro slavery. It was not so fully recognized as such at the

time, neither party being willing to admit it, the North claiming that

they were simply fighting to preserve the Union, while the South con

tended that they were merely seeking their independence. History
removes all sham pretenses from both sides and clearly reveals the

fact that the subject of the contention was the perpetuation of slavery

in the United States.

As we have seen, slaves were held in Tompkins county at least

as late as 1820, when the number was fifty. In the year 1799 the

population of the state of New York included twenty thousand slaves,

but in that year provision was made by the state government for their

gradual emancipation, and on July 4, 1827, the last slave in the state

was declared forever free. The colored people of the county cele

brated the event at that time at Ithaca. While all the Northern States
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voluntarily abolished slavery within their limits early in the century,

the institution flourished with increasing vigor in the South, and the

antagonism between the two sections, engendered and maintained by
the subject of the existence and entension of slavery, led slowly but

surely to the terrible War of the Rebellion.

One of the local circumstances which early served to call attention

to and agitate this subject in our county was the trial of Robert H.

Hyde, the father of the late R. H. S. Hyde, Esq., of the town of Caro

line, who was charged with taking to Virginia and selling a negro

slave girl, Eliza, whom he had held here, in violation of the laws

which provided for the gradual abolition of slavery in this state and

prohibited the removal of slaves to other states to evade this law for

their emancipation. In 1805 there had settled in Caroline a small

colony from Virginia, including the Hyde and Speed families, who

brought their slaves with them. Hyde was indicted and twice tried

upon this charge at Ithaca in the year 1825. He escaped convic

tion, being ably defended by Ben Johnson, the most noted lawyer of

the county in those years, but the affair served to stir up the rapidly

growing anti-slavery sentiment in this county. While the South

undertook to defend the institution of slavery as of divine origin, best

calculated to subserve the highest interest of the colored race as well

as that of their masters, the prevailing sentiment of the North was

rapidly growing to condemn it as radically wrong. Still the mass of

the Northern people were not prepared before the war to interfere with

slavery in the old states where it had been established, but the ques

tion as to permitting it to be introduced and further extended in the

new states and territories led to heated and bitter discussion and an

increasing enmity between the two sections. The sentiment at the

North was, however, divided on the subject, and there were some citi

zens, even in Dryden, who, up to the time of the war, openly defended

negro slavery. The writer remembers that Mills Van Valkenburgh,

a lawyer of Dryden and afterwards county judge, who taught the Dry

den village district school in about 1855, had such pronounced views

upon the subject of tolerating slavery that some of the radical abo

litionists of the village, R. H. Delamater for one, refused to send their

children to school under his instruction, although he was everywhere

recognized as an excellent teacher and an exemplary citizen.

When John Brown in 1859 made his raid into Virginia to free the

slaves and create an insurrection among them in defiance of law, the

masses of people in Dryden, as well as elsewhere in the North, con

demned it as a mad and foolish act. Still there was a growing
senti-
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ment in sympathy with him, which was disposed to resist the fugitive

slave law requiring the return of runaway slaves to their masters,

maintaining that there was a law higher than the law of the land upon

that subject, and the readiness with which the soldiers of the North

afterwards took up the song :

"

John Brown's body lies a mouldering in the grave,
But his soul goes marching on,

"

demonstrated that this sentiment was not then forgotten.

The presidential campaign of 1856, in which Fremont and Dayton

were defeated by James Buchanan, was an exciting time in Dryden,

only exceeded by the subsequent election of Lincoln and Hamlin in

1860. While there were never very many colored people residing in

the town, the anti-slavery feeling became so intense and prevalent

prior to and during the war, and the
"
Black

Republican"

majorities

given in sympathy with the negroes grew to such an extent, that the

town came to be known in those days as
"
Black

Dryden."

CHAPTER XVIII.

THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.

It is now easy to see in the light of history that in their efforts to

preserve and perpetuate the institution of slavery, the Southern States

by their attempted secession hastened its doom to speedy abolition.

Slavery might have been one of the perplexing subjects of politics to

day had not the crisis been precipitated by the commencement of

hostilities in April, 1861.

It will be difficult for succeeding generations to realize with what

anxiety and interest the investment and capture of Fort Sumpter and

the subsequent progress of the war were watched by the people of

Dryden in common with the inhabitants of all of the states of the

North. No railroads or telegraph then served to deliver the war news

within the town of Dryden. The only mail which was then received

was brought by the daily stages from Ithaca and Cortland, meeting at

Dryden village at noon. The New York daily papers of the morning

would in this way reach Dryden the next day at noon, when the first

news was obtained, unless, as was frequently the case, a messen

ger was dispatched by private contributors to Cortland, the nearest

railroad and telegraph station in those times, to bring back the latest

news late in the evening. Those who remember how anxiouslv the


